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Chair’s Statement 

Introduction 
2019 was a highly significant year in the development of The Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common 
Good (the Trust) as it broadened its mandate to oversee two new organisations: Fair4All Finance 
(F4AF) and Youth Futures Foundation (YFF). At the same time, the Trust established a new structure 
for its oversight role and entered into new Governance Agreements with each of the four operating 
companies (OpCos) in the Trust group: F4AF; YFF; Big Society Capital (BSC); and Access – the 
Foundation for Social Investment (Access). 

Background 
The Trust was established as The Big Society Trust in 2011 to act as majority shareholder of Big Society 
Capital and keep it on mission. The Trust subsequently became custodian of Access in 2014. The 
Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) announced in early 2018 the projected 
release of a further £330m of funds under the Dormant Accounts scheme over four years. Of this £280m 
is in respect of funding allocated to spending in England, of which £135m was expected to flow to BSC. 
The remaining £145m would be used to address financial inclusion and youth unemployment for 
disadvantaged communities in England. Following this announcement, two new companies were 
established in 2019: 

1. F4AF has a mission to support the financial wellbeing of people in vulnerable circumstances. 
The organisation’s ambition is to increase access to fair, affordable and appropriate financial 
products and services. It will look to build capacity in the affordable credit sector with a 
combination of financial support, capability development and ecosystem development 
programmes. 

2. YFF works to remove the barriers preventing disadvantaged young people from entering the 
labour market. The organisation will have a particular focus on addressing the ethnic disparities 
in youth unemployment. It will look to support those young people who are furthest from the 
labour market by directly supporting those organisations and individuals who are already 
tackling youth unemployment, and will engage and convene partners from all sectors to help 
build interventions and programmes that include the voice of both young people themselves 
and of employers in their design and delivery. It will also develop and share evidence about 
how best to tackle youth unemployment and use this evidence to influence practice and policy. 

As both new organisations are private companies (limited by guarantee) there needed to be a 
mechanism in place to provide additional accountability and transparency, above and beyond that 
provided by each organisation’s own directors.  

A new parent company was planned to take on this role and become the sole corporate member of 
each company. Following consultation with the Trust, DCMS and the National Lottery Community Fund 
(NLCF) it was concluded that the Trust was best placed to take on the role of parent company for the 
Dormant Account organisations. 

The Trust Board responded positively to the proposal with clearly defined conditions including that any 
new governance structure should ensure that it remained independent of Government and classified as 
a private sector organisation, and that arrangements be made for the on-going funding for the Trust’s 
operational costs. 

The Government paper “Civil Society Strategy: building a future that works for everyone” (August 2018) 
outlined the vision of DCMS to “strengthen organisations, large and small which hold our society 
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together” and included references to how each company in the Trust group forms a part of this overall 
strategy. 

The Trust Governance Changes 
In order to take on the new responsibilities, the Trust agreed that, given its broader purview, it was 
necessary that its Board should move from being composed of individuals representing particular 
stakeholder groups (including through ex-officio appointments) to being a diverse “skills-based” Board. 
While there would continue to be a Government appointee on the Board and NLCF would be 
represented (both with restricted voting rights), the Chairs of BSC and Access would step down. 

The new structure of the group was an opportunity to reflect on governance and codify more clearly 
how the Trust would operate in the future. The new Governance Agreements with the OpCos clearly 
define the mandate of the Trust in relation to each company, including reporting requirements and the 
Trust’s formal powers and processes. Under the new arrangements, the Trust will receive a formal 
annual Statement of Assurance from each OpCo confirming that Dormant Account funding has been 
used for the purpose that it was intended and that the company has appropriate leadership, systems, 
processes and policies in place. The Trust will make a similar assurance to NLCF and will also notify it 
of any significant governance issues that have come to its attention in relation to each of the OpCos. 

The OpCos are reviewed at quarterly Board meetings, with a specific focus on each OpCo once a year. 
There are also annual Governance Reviews with representatives of the Board of each OpCo providing 
assurance on issues relating to: Accounting, Remuneration & Governance and Impact. There is also a 
meeting between the Trust Chair and each OpCo Chair to discuss any governance issues of concern 
to either party. The Trust will also commission a Quadrennial Review by an independent panel of each 
OpCo’s impact and effectiveness and the terms of reference for these reviews are defined in the OpCo’s 
Governance Agreement. 

The new governance arrangements have been operational since November 2019. 

It was decided that the first Quadrennial Review should be of BSC, as it was the longest established 
and largest of the OpCos. The Review was conducted in Spring 2020. We very much appreciate the 
engagement of over 50 stakeholders who were interviewed by the panel and those others who made 
submissions, particularly given the challenging timing at the height of Covid-19 lock-down restrictions.  
The panel’s Review was published in July 2020 together with an announcement from the Trust 
welcoming the report and a detailed response from BSC. 

Financials 
The group accounts for 2019 record a deficit on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
of £4.8m (2018: surplus of £80.6m). The results of the group arise primarily from the financial 
performance of the four operating companies. The overall reduction from a surplus position in 2018 to 
a deficit in 2019 is principally a result of Funding Agreement monies for F4AF and YFF being deferred 
and released in-line with costs incurred, in contrast to monies received for investment by the Trust into 
BSC being recognised upon subscription. 

In 2019, BSC and Access have both continued to provide their programmes of investment as social 
investment wholesalers supporting the social sector. At year end, BSC had provided a cumulative total 
of £1,978m of capital (including match funding from other sources) since its establishment. Access has 
focused on organisations with smaller needs for capital – a key indicator is the average loan size from 
Access’s Growth Fund, which is £63,000. 
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F4AF and yFF received their first substantive Dormant Account funding from NLCF at the end of 2019,

having been funded for set-up costs over the course of the year'

Since the yearend, the Covid-19 crisis has caused a greatdeal of demand foradditional supportfor

charities, social enterprises and other community organisations including those with whom the OpCos

engage. This has been recognised by the GovLrnment, who announced in May 2020 that f90m of

Dormant Accounts would be inlocked for 2O2O - earlier than would generally be the case - enabling

f71m of additionat commitments to be made, along with earlier drawdown of existing commitments for

organisations within the grouP.

The Covid-19 response of each OpCo is described in the attached Strategic Report.

The Trust Board

I would like to take this opportunity to thank wholeheartedly the Trust Board for their engagement to

help steer the Trust through this iritical stage of its development. ln particular, Clare Tickell for her

leadership as the new orginisational structure was being established; Robin Budenberg who was the

visionary principal architeit of the new regime and who led the organisation as it became established

and proved the modet; and Peter Holbrook for his insights and commitment, having served on the Board

since it was established. I was disappointed that they have had to stand down from the Trust Board

over the course of the last year. For Clare and Robin, this was because of new challenging roles they

had taken on and also the potential for conflrcts of lnterest and, in the case of Peter, because he had

served a full term of nine years on the Board'

I would also like to thank sir Harvey McGrath and John Kingston, who stepped down from the Board in

their ex-officio roles, for their invaluable contribution to establishing the Trust'

I am pleased to welcome lan Hughes as the new NLCF appointee to the Board who joined in November

2019 and Andrew Rose, Clara-garby, Kevin Davis and Helen England who joined the Board more

recenfly and all bring complementary and relevant skills to the Board'

Change of Name

Finally, in August ZO2O, as had been planned for some time, the Trust registered its change of name

from ine Big 
-society 

Trust to "The oversight Trust - Assets for the Common Good" to better reflect its

redefi ned resPonsibil ities.

/) .^ ---L'2? -/ , o\r.aAI
Sir Stuart Etherington

Chair
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Strategic Report 

Principal objectives 
The group comprises the Trust and its subsidiaries: Big Society Capital Limited (BSC), Access - The 
Foundation for Social Investment (Access), Fair4All Finance (F4AF) and Youth Futures Foundation 
(YFF). The Trust is a company limited by guarantee. The Trust’s objects are, in the public interest, to: 

• promote and develop social investment and the social investment marketplace in the United 
Kingdom by: 

 acting as a majority shareholder in and providing oversight of BSC with the aim of 
ensuring that BSC remains true to its object, 

 acting as the sole company law member and providing oversight of Access; 
• promote individuals’ ability to manage their finances and more generally to improve access to 

personal financial services by acting as the sole company law member and providing oversight 
of F4AF; and 

• promote the needs of young people by acting as the sole company law member and providing 
oversight of YFF. 

Social investment is the use of repayable finance to achieve a social as well as a financial return. There 
are many charities and social enterprises working hard to deal with some of the most challenging issues 
in the UK, such as youth unemployment, financial exclusion and homelessness. An increasing number 
of them wish to use repayable finance to help them increase their impact on society, for example by 
growing their organisation and extending their reach, providing working capital for contract delivery, or 
buying assets. 

How the different subsidiaries of the Trust group fulfil their principal objectives can be found in the 
Strategy and Purpose section below. 

Group governance arrangements 
The strategy of each of the four operating companies (OpCos) in the Trust group is determined by the 
directors of that company and as outlined in this report. The Trust is responsible for the oversight of the 
four OpCos, with the aim of ensuring that they remain true to their objects and in particular: 

• To ensure each company is well governed; 
• To ensure that any changes to a company’s objects are appropriate; 
• To ensure each company’s strategic plans are in accordance with its objects; 
• To review the companies’ achievement of social impact; 
• To review the transparency of financial and impact reporting; and 
• To provide guidance and advice to the companies where appropriate and practicable, or as 

requested. 

The Trust has a Governance Agreement with each OpCo that sets out the Operating Principles for the 
company and the details of reporting, assurance and review required by the Trust. The document also 
sets out the key powers and processes the Trust has that are relevant to it fulfilling its responsibilities. 
The powers include those specified in the individual company’s governing documents as well as those 
under UK company law. 

Access, F4AF and YFF are companies limited by guarantee, for which the Trust has governance powers 
and responsibilities as their sole member. Access is also a registered charity. BSC is a company limited 
by shares, and the Trust has a controlling interest (it controls 80% of the voting rights at shareholders’ 
meetings). For important issues, such as any change to an OpCo’s Articles concerning its Objects and 
Powers, a consensus vote by the Trust Board is required. Any changes to an OpCo’s Governance 
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Agreement require a 75% majority vote of the Trust Board to approve (except for changes to the 
Remuneration Principles which require a consensus vote). 

The boards of the OpCos are responsible for the majority of activities within the group. Each OpCo has 
its own board of directors that reflects its purpose and each company also operates through board 
committees appropriate to its operations.  

Funding 
The Trust is funded with monies released from dormant accounts under the Dormant Bank and Building 
Society Accounts Act 2008. The reclaim body that manages these funds is the Reclaim Fund Limited 
(RFL). Funds are transferred from RFL to the National Lottery Community Fund (NLCF) for distribution. 
Prior to 2019, the Trust received all of the English allocation of these monies: to invest as equity in BSC; 
to provide as a grant to Access; and to cover the Trust’s operating costs. 

By the financial year ended 31 December 2019, BSC had received equity capital from the Trust of 
£381m. BSC had also received £200m from its shareholder banks (Barclays, HSBC, Lloyds Banking 
Group and Natwest Group) for investment across the UK. 

Access is primarily funded via a £60.7m endowment from the Department for Digital, Culture, Media 
and Sport (DCMS), of which £55.7m has been received with the balance being receivable over the 
coming year. This endowment will be spent over the next six years in the delivery of Access’ 
programmes. 

F4AF and YFF received funding of £30.7m and £45.0m respectively in December 2019 from the English 
allocation of dormant account monies. The organisations also received set-up cost funding from the 
same source. 

In May 2020 the Government announced that RFL would release its 2020 funding earlier than is 
normally the case, enabling funds to flow to BSC (£45m), F4AF (£24m) and YFF (£10m) in respect of 
existing commitments. New commitments were also made in respect of Access (£30m) and F4AF 
(£41m). Further sums are due to YFF of £34.1m, which have previously been announced and 
committed but have not yet been paid.  

Strategy and purpose 

Big Society Capital 

BSC's overriding purpose is to improve the lives of people in the UK though investment with a 
sustainable return. 

BSC exists to make a difference: to help create a fair society by improving the lives of people in the UK 
through investment. Working with expert partners, the organisation seeks to understand people’s needs 
first. Then, using its knowledge and capital, it collaborates and invests with fund managers and social 
banks who also want to create a better, sustainable future. They, and the social enterprises and 
charities they invest in, create the impact. BSC’s role is to bring the most relevant experts from its 
network to the table, generating ideas and connecting capital to where it’s most needed. 

BSC is currently focusing its efforts on three areas where it believes social impact investment can be 
particularly effective: homes for people in need, supporting places and early action to prevent harm. In 
addition, it will continue to make capital available to opportunities outside these focus areas including 
follow-ons from existing funds where it is seeing an impact or well-formed and highly impactful incoming 
propositions. 
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BSC's five corporate objectives cascade from this strategy and purpose. They guide team objectives 
and those for individual staff members. They are: 

1. To support and invest in innovative models that use social impact investment to enable those 
in most need to live in affordable, safe and secure homes – while creating wider change in the 
market; 

2. To support and invest in innovative models that use social impact investment to strengthen 
communities in disadvantaged areas, to build local solutions that improve people’s lives; 

3. To support and invest in innovative models that use social impact investment to help improve 
people’s lives by tackling problems at an earlier stage; 

4. To build and sustain a successful social impact investment market; and 
5. To grow BSC's impact, effectiveness, sustainability and reputation. 

Access – The Foundation for Social Investment 

Access works to make charities and social enterprises in England more financially resilient and self-
reliant, so that they can sustain or increase their impact. It does this through supporting the development 
of enterprise activity to grow and diversify income, improving access to the social investment which can 
help stimulate that enterprise activity, and sharing the learning from how these programmes work.  
Access has three main strands to its work: 

1. Capacity Building: Funding a broad range of activities in partnership with other foundations, 
social investors, sector infrastructure bodies and enterprise advisors. This support aims to help 
charities and social enterprises to earn more of their own income through enterprising activity 
and specifically develop business models which can be further supported through utilising 
social investment. This work includes enterprise development, and investment readiness. 

2. Blended Finance: Managing and promoting blended finance models, including the Growth 
Fund, which bridge the gap between charities and social enterprises on one side and social 
investors on the other. These models help make the social investment easier to find and more 
relevant for charities and social enterprises, and help social investment reach parts of the sector 
which are yet to benefit. 

3. Listening, Learning and Sharing Knowledge: Learning from Access programmes and 
listening to the changing investment needs of the sector in order to influence its future work and 
that of others who support charities and social enterprises; and building systems which make 
that knowledge easier to understand and use for the long term. 

In addition to these three core activities, Access seeks to achieve social impact in everything it does 
and takes a “Total Impact” approach. Most significantly, it is investing its expendable endowment and 
any other funds received to achieve positive social impact with a financial return to fund its grant making, 
thereby increasing the total impact made by the endowment over its lifetime. 

Fair4All Finance 

F4AF‘s vision is of a society where the long-term financial wellbeing of all people is supported by a fair 
and accessible financial services sector. Its mission is to increase the financial resilience of people in 
vulnerable circumstances by providing access to fair, affordable and appropriate financial products and 
services. 

F4AF is committed to working to develop access to fair, affordable and appropriate financial products 
and services and to work with all parts of the financial sector as they have a major role to play in financial 
inclusion. By driving transformational sector change, it will increase the provision of products and 
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services for people in vulnerable circumstances, improve people’s wellbeing and have a positive impact 
on society and the economy as a whole.   

F4AF will take a systems and evidence-based approach to create significant impact across the UK, 
working at an ecosystem level to improve both the supply and demand of products and services 
designed with people in vulnerable circumstances in mind. F4AF creates impact through designing and 
investing in programmes that deploy its funds in the form of patient capital and grants to deliver 
sustainable change. 

The first area of focus has been on the provision of affordable credit, identified as the key pain point for 
people in vulnerable circumstances by the NLCF Report which informed the need for the formation of 
this organisation. The most significant issue identified was a lack of availability of affordable credit for 
these people. The high-cost credit market originates some £3bn of credit each year to this customer 
group and mainstream providers have largely withdrawn from the provision of small, short term 
consumer loans.  

There are providers such as Credit Unions and CDFIs who are focused on providing credit to people in 
vulnerable circumstances to enable them to meet unexpected costs, smooth incomes or make essential 
purchases that are otherwise unaffordable. These providers deliver a ‘wrap around’ service that is 
designed to use credit as a tool to build customers’ individual financial resilience and wellbeing. This is 
typically delivered through not-for-profit models that save individuals significant amounts of money each 
year compared with high-cost providers. However, these providers make up only a fraction of short-
term lending in the UK to people in vulnerable circumstances - each year, affordable credit providers 
only make around £250m of loans to this group. 

F4AF set a strategic goal to scale the provision of affordable credit by a factor of ten as soon as possible 
to better serve the needs of people in vulnerable circumstances. 

Youth Futures Foundation 

YFF believes that too many young people are prevented from finding a job by a lack of access to 
appropriate information, advice and connections, inadequate support to overcome multiple layers of 
disadvantage, or as a result of discrimination. Young people from disadvantaged backgrounds and 
particular ethnic minorities are disproportionately likely to be not in education, employment or training, 
and their outcomes vary significantly more by region. This has a negative effect on individual life 
chances that endures, imposing a high cost on society and our economy. Despite huge investment from 
governments across the world, YFF believes this is a problem that societies are still struggling to 
overcome.  

YFF’s mission is to ensure future generations have access to fulfilling work no matter what their 
background. It believes that in order to improve wellbeing and productivity to equip the country for the 
future, society needs to harness the diversity and skills of all young people. 

YFF realises, however, that closing the employment gap will require significant work. Employment 
services for young people are highly fragmented, with multiple entry points via formal education, youth 
services, employability providers and public sector provision – all offering a broad range of interventions 
that can be hard to uncover, understand and access. It plans to: 

1. Build an ‘empowerment foundation’ to identify practical solutions that work and are simple 
and cost effective enough to roll out across multiple locations, to reach as many young people 
as possible. 



The Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common Good 
(formerly The Big Society Trust) 
Strategic Report (continued) 

9 

 

2. Apply rigorous evaluation methods to determine what works, then channel resources and 
funding into sharing its learnings and working in partnership to grow good practice.   

3. Seek a significant change in national behaviour that dramatically improves the number of 
young people accessing - and progressing in - work.  

YFF is committed to both equipping young people from diverse backgrounds to access and progress in 
work and removing structural and systemic barriers to employment and progression. 

It believes that an evidence-led structural and systems-based approach that recognises the importance 
of national learnings and local context, as well as promoting strong co-ordination and partnership 
working across government, funders, delivery organisations and employers is urgently needed. It will 
work in partnership to close the employment gap by: 

• Building the evidence base; 
• Understanding and highlighting structural and systemic barriers; 
• Improving the quality of employment programmes for young people; 
• Empowering government to carry out evidence-based policy making; and 
• Equipping employers to improve productivity through hiring the best talent. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
The main risk facing the Trust as a company is the possibility of it no longer receiving on-going funding  
under its Funding Agreement with NLCF and for the group as a whole, the principal risks and 
uncertainties it faces relate to BSC’s investment portfolio, as well as to the strategic and operational 
risks in setting up two new organisations. 

The key risks for each OpCo are set out below: 

Big Society Capital 

BSC considers the principal risks it is exposed to under four headings: 

1. Strategic Risks: The risks arising from the design and execution of BSC’s business strategy 
or business model that may lead to financial loss, adverse social impact and reputational 
damage. BSC seeks to mitigate these risks through a strong governance framework and an 
active programme of engagement with key stakeholders. 

2. Performance/Investment Risks: The risk of financial and social impact losses because of loss 
of value of social impact investments, failure of a counterparty to meet its obligations in 
accordance with agreed terms, and risk of reduced mobilisation of co-investment. These risks 
are mitigated through the Investment Committee and Valuation Committee frameworks, which 
consider investments from Financial, Social Impact and Systems Change perspectives and 
through concentration thresholds on fund managers and focus areas. In addition, BSC runs 
programmes to support and develop fund managers and seeks to develop wider institutional 
relationships to bring increased capital flows closer to its strategic focus areas. 

3. External Risks: The risk of Government policy and/or regulatory changes and adverse 
macroeconomic trends impacting the performance of BSC’s social impact investment portfolio 
and its pipeline. Such risks are often outside the organisation’s direct control, with mitigation 
through the diversified nature of its portfolio and low correlation of elements of the portfolio with 
wider market performance factors. 
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4. Operational/Preventable Risks: The risk of direct losses resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people and key systems, or indirect losses resulting from relationships with 
third parties.  BSC seeks to mitigate these types of risk by having policies, processes, controls 
and procedures in place, together with having suitably qualified and experienced staff to 
operate these. This framework is supplemented by a programme of external reviews to assess 
the adequacy and effectiveness of these mitigants. 

Access – the Foundation for Social Investment 

To ensure that risks are managed and mitigated, a risk register is in place, which enables Access to 
identify and evaluate both strategic and operational risks, and the actions needed to mitigate these 
risks, taking into account existing and proposed controls. 

The key performance risks identified which may impact on Access’s ability to achieve its objectives is 
that social investors making loans under the Growth Fund may fall behind their deployment schedules 
that the terms of the deals were based on. Slow or reduced deployment of loans impacts the feasibility 
of the social investor’s fund and may render their operations unsustainable. 

To mitigate this, there is an active portfolio management process in place and a framework is in 
development for decisions concerning any breach in the terms of investment made in the social 
investors. Access monitors performance quarterly, including performance against targets, and 
encourages active pipeline management. 

Fair4All Finance 

F4AF’s has identified its key strategic and operational risks as: 

1. Whether economic circumstances create such a significant increase in demand for affordable 
credit to mean that a different approach might be required. 

2. Whether its approach to developing a strong pipeline of investees that can be scaled will be 
successful. 

3. Whether it is able to leverage the funding received to provide additional capital to enable 
investee organisations to scale. 

4. Its ability to secure and retain high calibre people to deliver programmes within our operating 
budgets. 

5. Its ability to convene, collaborate and influence change across the complex landscape of 
financial inclusion and financial services to drive progress. 

F4AF is refining its plans in each of these areas to mitigate these risks and we are continuing to develop 
our enterprise risk framework to support identification of new and emerging risks and monitoring of the 
effectiveness of our risk mitigation activities. 

Youth Futures Foundation 

YFF considers its key strategic and operational risks to be: 

1. Its approach and strategy does not deliver its organisational aims. 

2. Improper use of grant funding. 
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3. Inadequate evaluation of impact. 

4. Lack of operational effectiveness. 

5. Safeguarding. 

6. Lack of independence. 

For each of these factors, a range of actions are being taken to reduce and mitigate potential risks. 
Furthermore, risk management processes designed to protect YFF’s assets, reputation and financial 
stability have been established and will be enhanced during the course of 2020 as the company’s 
activities expand.  

Subsequent Events: 
Following the advice issued by the UK Government in March 2020 regarding employees working from 
home and other social distancing measures, the OpCos have enacted procedures to facilitate this and 
have a detailed plan that enables effective operation to continue whilst employees are not physically 
present in the companies’ offices. 

Uncertainties relating to the emergence of Covid-19 

The Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common Good 

Following the advice issued by the UK Government in March 2020 regarding employees working from 
home and other social distancing measures, the Trust and the OpCos have enacted procedures to 
facilitate this and have detailed plans that enable effective operation to continue whilst employees are 
not physically present in the companies’ offices. 

The Trust itself has been affected by Covid-19 to a limited extent as the company is able to operate 
normally remotely and meetings both of the Trust’s Board and meetings organised with OpCos have 
been able to be conducted using video links. The Quadrennial Review of BSC was able to be take place 
as planned despite the Covid-19 restrictions, with interviews of stakeholders and feedback by the 
Review Panel all done very effectively using video links. 

The different uncertainties relating to the emergence of Covid-19 for the OpCos are outlined below. 

Big Society Capital 

The rapid escalation of the Covid-19 pandemic in the UK in March 2020 has resulted in significant 
uncertainties for much of BSC’s social impact investment portfolio, together with a small degree of 
volatility in its treasury portfolio. 

The company has been actively working with its fund manager partners to assess the financial and 
social impact risks arising from the pandemic across its social impact investment portfolio, with 
particular focus on the most vulnerable frontline sectors such as hospitality, care and small enterprises 
financed through debt funds, and on fund managers facing potential liquidity gaps. 

This assessment is also seeking to identify potential short-term funding solutions and other practical 
steps that BSC and its partners can take to ensure services can continue to be delivered and to 
determine how best BSC can support these frontline organisations in a highly uncertain and fragile 
economic environment. The company has also activated its business continuity plan and implemented 
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several actions and policies to manage risk, support its employees and to ensure continuing operation 
of key business functions. 

Access – the Foundation for Social Investment 

Access has sought to respond to the impact of Covid-19 outbreak and associated social distancing 
measures on the organisation’s programmes by working closely with delivery partners, including 
through providing additional grant support and pausing interest accrual for fund managers delivering 
the Growth Fund, and amending timescales and other milestones on capacity building programmes to 
recognise the challenging circumstances deliver partners are facing. 

The Access board have considered the effects of the 2020 outbreak of Covid-19 on the charity’s own 
operations and have concluded that the impact of it is likely to be limited. 

Fair4All Finance 

F4AF recognises that the Covid-19 pandemic is significantly impacting individuals in vulnerable 
circumstances and financial service providers. The key uncertainties which present both challenges 
and opportunities in the delivery of our overall goals are: 

• The pace of recovery of the economy as the country emerges from the crisis which will have 
an impact on the number of people who are forced into debt and how many of these are able 
to access financial service providers or are forced into the unregulated debt market 

• Consumer behaviour through and beyond the crisis: this may accelerate some changes, such 
as confidence in using digital tools and also change attitudes to savings and debt 

• Provider resilience: the ability of providers to survive the demands of the crisis and emerge in 
a good position to grow and scale 

• Political and social structures: the approach to macroeconomics and social policy as the country 
emerges from the crisis  

It is conducting a scenario planning exercise to model different potential outcomes and how its approach 
would change in each of those scenarios. 

Youth Futures Foundation 

The company moved quickly to safeguard its employees at the outbreak of Covid-19, fully implementing 
homeworking before the UK lockdown was established. As a new organisation, YFF’s systems were 
already cloud-based and the pre-existing flexible working patterns meant operations could continue 
seamlessly. 

The company’s significant cash reserves mean that YFF’s directors have no concern in respect of 
liquidity in light of Covid-19. 

However, the Covid-19 lockdown and subsequent economic impact has a significant impact on the 
young people and organisations we intend to support. The UK is currently experiencing the fastest 
increase in unemployment claims since the winter of 1947, with areas of disadvantage particularly hard 
hit. Youth unemployment rose from 5.4% in March 2020 to 8.6% in April 2020. In May one third of 18-
24-year-olds had been furloughed or lost their main job. Studies suggest that over 1.35 million young 
people could find themselves unemployed this year. In the previous recession, young people saw their 
unemployment rate grow three times faster than their older counterparts. There is clear evidence that 
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young people who have repeated and/or long-term spells of unemployment are much more likely to be 
out of work later in life, to be in poor quality work and have lower earnings. There are also knock on 
effects for physical and mental health. The likely economic and fiscal cost of not intervening to protect 
young people from permanent labour market ‘scars’ will be significant and persistent. 

Dormant accounts monies received 

In May 2020, it was announced by the Culture Secretary that £150m from dormant bank and building 
society accounts would be directed to help charities, social enterprises and vulnerable individuals during 
the coronavirus outbreak. This was supported by the RFL releasing the 2020 funding earlier than would 
normally be the case. Of this £150m: 

• £10m will be brought forward for YFF to help organisations who support unemployed, 
disadvantaged young people across the country into jobs; 

• £45m will be deployed by BSC to allow better access to investment including emergency loans 
for charities, social enterprises and some small businesses facing cash-flow problems and 
disruption to their trading following the coronavirus outbreak; 

• F4AF will use £65m to increase access to fair, appropriate products and services for those 
struggling financially, providing them with an alternative to high cost loans; and 

• £30m will go to Access, who will support social enterprises impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The Trust as a responsible business 
The Trust is an organisation comprising a Board of Directors and in 2019 its operational support was 
provided by BSC. Since 1 April 2020, the Trust has employed a Chief Operating Officer who also acts 
as Company Secretary. The Trust oversees the activities of four organisations, each with a social 
mission, and it is tasked with ensuring good governance for these companies and that they adhere to 
their missions in order to deliver societal benefit. 

It is not within the Trust’s remit to direct the day-to-day operations of the individual OpCos but, by 
ensuring they are well governed, the Trust receives assurance through reports from the companies that 
they are each acting responsibly. 

Directors' duties 

The directors have a duty to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members (who 
under the Trust’s corporate structure are themselves the directors), while having regard to the following 
(s172(1)) requirements: 

(a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term; 
(b) the interests of the company's employees; 
(c) the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others; 
(d) the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment; 
(e) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and 
(f) the need to act fairly as between members of the company. 

Long-term decisions 

The nature of the Trust’s oversight role is to look at strategic decision making by the OpCos to deliver 
the long-term success of the group. The Trust’s role is to keep them ‘on mission’ over the long term by 
ensuring their strategy is consistent with their objects and purpose. 
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In 2019, the Trust reviewed the mechanisms it has for overseeing the companies in the group and 
revised its governance structure to ensure it was appropriate for the longer term and in particular for 
the role it was adopting of overseeing two newly formed organisations: F4AF and YFF.  

The Trust engages in a quarterly review of each OpCo, with an annual more detailed assessment and 
an annual Governance Review. Each year an independent panel is commissioned by the Trust to 
produce a Review of the impact and effectiveness of one of the OpCos (with each OpCo being reviewed 
over the course of four years) to ensure that longer term issues of systems change and impact delivery 
are reviewed and the effectiveness of each organisation in its long term delivery of its mission can be 
assessed. 

Interests of the group’s employees 

Each OpCo has a Governance Agreement with the Trust that includes Remuneration Principles that 
specify the approach to be taken to senior management remuneration. Remuneration is discussed at 
least annually with each company as part of the Governance Review process. In general, however, an 
individual OpCo’s policy as it relates to their employees is an operational decision overseen by each 
OpCo’s board of directors. The role of the Trust is to promote good governance by seeking transparency 
and encouraging best practice. 

Relationships with suppliers, customers and others 

The Trust has a close working relationship with the companies it oversees, particularly in the areas of 
Finance and Communications. The Trust’s oversight role means it must review the activities of 
companies in the group and deliver the Independent Reviews referred to above. The Trust facilitates 
communication amongst the group about issues of common interest – as was demonstrated by effective 
knowledge-sharing by the group around the sector response to the Covid-19 crisis. 

The Trust itself has a very limited number of suppliers, given its role, but procurement is done on an 
open and fair basis where appropriate. In 2019 the Trust used ethical providers for an off-site venue. 

Community and environment 

The Trust group has social and environmental objectives, as outlined in individual OpCos’ Articles and 
discussed above in this Strategic Report. The Trust is an enabler for the organisations in the group to 
make a positive contribution to the community and environment.  

Business conduct 

The Trust has established a Governance Agreement with each of the OpCos to ensure that it uses its 
powers as majority shareholder or sole member in an appropriate way. It does this by clearly outlining 
its powers and processes and how these will be used in relation to fulfilling the Trust’s Objects. 

Act fairly between members 

The members of the Trust are its directors. Each has equal voting rights except on specific issues (such 
as in relation to changing the Trust’s Articles). In these instances, the Government Appointee and the 
NLCF Appointee have restricted voting rights to ensure that public sector bodies are not able to veto 
certain key strategic decisions where a consensus decision is required. This is to ensure the Trust can 
operate in a way that is clearly independent of Government influence. 

Performance and key performance indicators 
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Group performance 

The consolidated Financial Statements are set out on pages 33 to 60 below. The group's consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the year is shown on page 33 below. 

As described above, BSC has been set up with equity capital from dormant bank accounts managed 
by RFL. RFL passes available funds to the NLCF and, in respect of funds directed for the benefit of 
BSC, grants the funds to the Trust for investment in share capital. At BSC's launch, it was expected 
that the Trust's shareholding would grow to £400m over time and further RFL monies are expected in 
future periods. BSC has also received an equity investment of £200m from the shareholder banks 
(Barclays, HSBC, Lloyds Banking Group and Natwest Group). The shareholder banks hold the minority 
interest shown in these financial statements, each bank's individual shareholding is limited to less than 
10% of the outstanding paid-in capital. BSC is a financial institution authorised by the Financial Conduct 
Authority. 

As the Trust is the sole member of Access, F4AF and YFF, 100% of their assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses are included within the group's consolidated accounts. 

Total group income for the year was £13.4m (2018: £94.0m). The grants received by YFF and F4AF 
from RFL (via the NLCF) were £45.9m and £30.7m respectively, of which £0.6m has been released 
into the statement of comprehensive income for each, in line with the costs incurred by each since their 
foundation. The endowment received by Access from DCMS for the year was £3.9m (2018: £4.2m). 
Access also received income of £0.2m (2018: £0.1m) in respect of its service level agreement with the 
NLCF for running the Growth Fund. There were treasury management returns of £7.9m (2018: £2.7m) 
for BSC and Access combined. Finally, the overall net losses on the social investment portfolio of BSC 
was £0.1m (2018: £3.1m net loss). 

To cover its operating costs, from 1 January 2020 the Trust is permitted to request up to £500,000 per 
annum from NLCF of dormant account monies. In 2019 the Trust’s operating costs were £0.1m. This 
did not reflect the costs of the services provided by BSC such as Finance, Communications, Company 
Secretary and other support services (and related overheads). To set up the Trust as an independently 
operating entity, cover the legal and administrative costs of the change in governance arrangements 
and the recruitment costs of reconstituting the Trust’s Board, the Trust received £117,000 from NLCF 
and £42,000 from DCMS in 2019. An additional amount of (£441,000) was also received for on-going 
operational costs. All the DCMS monies, alongside £79,000 from NLCF, have been released into the 
statement of comprehensive income for 2019 in line with costs incurred. 

The group position fell from a net profit of £80.6m to a net loss of £4.8m, with a £90.1m grant from 
NLCF in 2018 not being repeated. Excluding this one-off grant funding, total revenue for 2019 increased 
by £9.4m, reflecting: 

• a reduction in the loss suffered by BSC on its social impact investment portfolio to £0.1m (2018: 
£3.1m loss), alongside an increase in income (comprising interest, fees and dividends) on 
BSC’s same portfolio to £4.8m (2018: £2.9m), resulting from the growth of the portfolio and the 
more established nature of some of the fund investments; 

• BSC and Access treasury portfolio gains of £2.9m (2018: £2.5m loss), alongside interest 
income of £4.9m (2018: £5.2m), resulting in an overall rise in portfolio revenue of £5.1m due to 
mark to market increases on the social bond, equity and multi-asset funds, reflecting strong 
bond and equity market performance during the year; and 

• The recognition of £1.2m of grant income released against costs incurred for the opening 
activities of YFF and F4AF.  
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Average headcount was 72 (2018: 49). Group administrative expenses were £11.1m (2018: £8.2m), 
the change reflecting the inclusion of YFF and F4AF expenditure of £639,000 and £643,000 
respectively, alongside an increase in costs associated with supporting the growth of BSC’s social 
impact investment portfolio, BSC’s market-building activities and the costs of setting up the new OpCos. 
Group grant expenditure rose to £7.2m (2018: £5.3m) as a result of an increase in grants payable by 
Access during the year. 

Big Society Capital 

Operating and financial performance: 

In 2019, BSC made a financial loss of £2.1m (2018: £6.5m loss). The decrease in loss was driven by 
increased treasury and social impact investment returns, partially offset by increased administrative 
costs. 

BSC’s investment portfolio is made up of a social impact investment portfolio and a treasury portfolio. 
The social impact investment portfolio comprises investments made to meet the company’s objectives 
outlined above. The treasury portfolio represents capital held before it is drawn down into social impact 
investment. 

A key driver of BSC’s year-on-year financial performance is the extent of realised and unrealised 
valuation gains and losses in the portfolio. Its social impact investment portfolio is valued using 
accounting standards assessing the fair value of an asset at the measurement date, based on 
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation guidelines. However, the valuations do not 
necessarily reflect its view of the long-term value of the investments, which are typically expected to be 
held for five to ten years. As is common practice with unquoted investments, a key metric of the financial 
success is the actual cash realised on an investment relative to its cost. 

Income (comprising interest, fees and dividends) on the social impact investment portfolio has 
continued to increase, during 2019 by £1.9m to £4.8m (2018: £0.7m increase to £2.9m), resulting from 
the growth of the portfolio and the more established nature of some of the fund investments. This was 
offset by a number of other adverse movements, including adverse net valuation movements in the 
social impact investment portfolio of £0.9m (2018: £1.8m). Management fees paid to fund managers 
£4.0m (2018: £4.2m). Management fees as a percentage of average committed social impact 
investments continued to decrease in 2019 (0.78%) compared to 2018 (0.91%). This decrease is largely 
due to the step down in fees on existing funds, due to the stage of investment, outstripping fees on new 
fund investments. 

The small negative return on the social impact investment portfolio in 2019, is an improvement on prior-
year performance, particularly driven by fund and loan income.   

The negative movement in investment valuations reflects the nature and risk profile of the investments, 
and is due to a small number of write-downs within the portfolio outweighing write-ups. The material 
write-downs are largely due to impairments arising from performance issues on underlying investments, 
generally in line with fund manager positions. In 2019, fund and loan income was greater than 
management fees by £0.8m (2018: lower by £1.3m). The performance of the social impact investment 
portfolio was negative 0.02% in 2019 compared to negative 1.48% in 2018, based on overall returns 
and the average balance of the portfolio. Although there has been a reduction in net losses in 2019, 
upward and downward revenue volatility from valuation movements is likely to continue to be a feature 
of BSC’s performance in future years, as a result of applying the principles of fair value measurement. 

The largest portion of BSC’s treasury portfolio is governed by a mandate that permits only investments 
that have been successfully screened in accordance with a socially responsible investment process, 
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while aiming for capital preservation. The remainder of the treasury portfolio is invested into social bond, 
equity and multi-asset funds. Total revenue from the treasury portfolio in 2019 was £5.7m, 
approximately 96% higher than 2018, due to mark-to-market increases on the social bond, equity and 
multi-asset funds, reflecting strong bond and equity market performance during the year. 

Administrative costs increased by £1.5m to £7.4m in 2019, and treasury management fees remained 
at £0.5m, reflecting continued investment to support the delivery of BSC's strategy, and enable 
investment in the resilience and effectiveness of BSC, as the social impact investment portfolio 
continues to grow. Of the total administrative expenses, it is estimated that approximately half relate to 
BSC’s social impact investment market building activities, including executing the engagement plan and 
pipeline development and origination, for which it receives no reimbursement. 

The longer-term objective is for BSC to generate positive financial returns and social impact on a 
continuing basis, as the social impact investment portfolio becomes more mature and exits from earlier 
investments are realised.  The generation of financial returns will also enable BSC’s operational and 
market building costs to be covered. However, it should be noted that, given the nature of BSC’s early-
stage investment portfolio, it expects to continue to see volatility in the net profit and in some years, 
particularly in the near term, BSC may experience further net losses. 

As its level of overall commitments has increased to close to its committed share capital, BSC has 
developed a long-term liquidity model to assess future liquidity requirements, taking into account future 
expected realisations and expected drawdown profiles. BSC's cumulative gross signed to date 
commitments are £600m, however some of these have been fully redeemed or cancelled and therefore 
are no longer outstanding. In order to manage the relationship between treasury balances and undrawn 
commitments, and to help ensure an appropriate balance between these, the Board has approved a 
policy whereby treasury balances should be at least 80% of the level of undrawn commitments. 

As a result of the rapid escalation of the Covid-19 pandemic in the UK, BSC is actively exploring a 
number of potential short-term funding solutions, to support those organisations whose operations have 
been severely impacted by the pandemic. The company has also undertaken modelling of several 
different short, medium and longer-term liquidity scenarios. The company considers it has a number of 
potential liquidity levers at its disposal, to enable it to continue to operate in these uncertain times and 
to support this effort. 

Social impact investment activity and key performance indicators: 
BSC has a range of key performance indicators (KPIs) that it uses to evaluate both the social impact 
investment market and the organisation's performance. The figures below show the company's KPIs at 
31 December 2019, and performance against them. 

• Money available to social enterprises and charities: 
- Since launching, BSC has signed 93 (2018: 86) investments. 
- The cumulative amount of investments signed by BSC and its co-investors is £1,978m 

(2018: £1,721m).  When an investment is signed, the funds are then available for fund 
managers to invest into social enterprises and charities. 

- Of this £600m (2018: £524m) is BSC’s own funds and £1,377m (2018: £1,197m) is from 
its co-investors. 

• Major categories of co-investors include: 
- Pensions and Insurance - 30% (2018: 34%) 
- Funds & Fund Of Funds - 13% (2018: 14%) 
- Social Bank Depositors - 12% (2018: 14%) 
- Individuals & Family Offices - 12% (2018: 13%) 
- Charity or Foundation - 12% (2018: 12%) 
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- Other - 9% (2018: 3%) 
- Government bodies - 6% (2018: 5%) 
- Banks - 6% (2018: 5%) 

• In 2019, BSC signed new investments totalling £74m (2018: £92m), including four follow-on 
investments. Details can be found within BSC’s 2019 Annual Report. 

• Money reaching social enterprises and charities: 
- The cumulative amount drawn down from BSC and its co-investors is £1,201m (2018: 

£1,004m). BSC's expectation is that the average investment will typically take between one 
and six years to fully draw down. 

- Of this £348m (2018: £276m) has come from BSC’s own funds and £853m (2018: £728m) 
from its co-investors. In 2019 drawdowns by investee entities totalled £74m (2018 £52m). 
 

The drawdown has been utilised as follows (based on BSC’s drawdown): 

• Cumulative drawdown by product type: 
- 66% (2018: 65%) is capital for social enterprises and charities through funds and social 

banks. 
- 17% (2018: 20%) is into property, mainly to help charitable service delivery 
- 4% (2018: 4%) is helping charities deliver services using Social Impact Bonds 
- 5% (2018: 6%) is management fees paid to fund managers. 
- 3% (2018: 3%) is capital for arrangers (investments into social impact investment advisers). 
- 5% (2018: 2%) is cash balances in funds. 

• Cumulative drawdown by organisational form: 
- 63% (2018: 68%) asset locked social enterprises and charities. 
- 18% (2018: 14%) non-asset locked social enterprises. 
- 4% (2018: 4%) Social Impact Bonds 
- 2% (2018: 3%) other (e.g. Local Authorities as part of mixed funds) 
- 3% (2018: 3%) is capital for arrangers (investments into social impact investment advisers). 
- 5% (2018: 6%) is management fees paid to fund managers. 
- 5% (2018: 2%) is cash balances in funds. 

Market building activities: 
BSC continues to build awareness and understanding of social impact investment with social 
enterprises, charities and investors. 

Market building in 2019 included developing closer relationships with potential partners (particularly 
investors), who can work with BSC to develop ideas to make social impact investments that will enable 
social impact in the focus areas of housing, place and early action. Through on-going market building, 
BSC continues to facilitate deeper understanding with specific investor groups, and to help address 
barriers to participation. Key activities in 2019 included: 

• Providing 50% of the funding (matched by Access) for the Good Finance website, to help social 
enterprises and charities navigate the social impact investment market through the provision of 
information and resources, alongside a comprehensive directory of social investors and 
advisers. By the end of 2019, more than 100,000 unique users had visited the website. 

• Investing in and supporting a range of outreach events nationally. Let’s Talk Good Finance is 
aimed at engaging social enterprises and charities that want to learn more about whether social 
impact investment might be relevant to them, while Good Finance Live focuses on bringing 
together investors and social sector organisations actively looking for capital. In addition, BSC 



The Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common Good 
(formerly The Big Society Trust) 
Strategic Report (continued) 

19 

 

provides support for trustees who are exploring social impact investment, by offering free 
mentoring through ‘GET INFORMED – Social Investment for Boards’. 

• Delivering a third GET SITR campaign on behalf of Department of Digital, Culture, Media and 
Sport, aimed at increasing awareness of Social Investment Tax Relief (SITR) and removing 
barriers to those seeking to raise investment using SITR. This was achieved through the 
provision of practical resources, case studies, free 1:1 surgery sessions to get advice, and the 
launch of a dedicated home for these resources www.getsitr.org.uk . 

• Launching the ‘Responsible Investment Network — Universities’, formed by a group of higher 
education institutions aiming to implement social and responsible investment for their 
endowments. The founding members of RINU represent endowments of around £5.4bn in total. 

• Supporting the continued development of two key funders’ networks (the Social Impact 
Investors Group of Foundations and the Venture Philanthropy Steering Group) with partners at 
the Association of Charitable Foundations and the European Venture Philanthropy Association, 
so that more social impact investment is available across the funding spectrum. 

• Continuing to support UK pension funds to navigate the impact investment market through a 
combination of channels, including 1:1 direct engagement with individual managers, speaking 
at conferences, and continued support of the Pensions for Purpose platform. 

• Continuing engagement with investor groups through media and events, including supporting 
Worthstone's Social Investment Academy’s inaugural Social Impact Awards, investor events 
convened by Toniic, GIIN, Pensions for Purpose and BVCA Impact Investment Advisory Group, 
and other investment events interested in showcasing impact. 

• BSC is working with institutional partners to launch a multi-asset and multi-impact investment 
product that can simplify and widen access to high social impact investment opportunities in 
the UK. 

Access – the Foundation for Social Investment 

Operating and Financial Performance: 

Before investment gains and losses, in 2019 Access recorded net expenditure of £3.36m (2018: net 
income of £9.05m). This net expenditure reflects the spend-down of Access’s endowment in 
accordance with its mission. Access also recorded a net investment gain £0.6m in 2019. 

2019 was the fourth full year of Access’s programme delivery, and shows the progress that has been 
made towards its long term vision. 2019 continued to see the impact of its work, most significantly 
investments being made at scale in charities and social enterprises. The Capacity Building programmes 
increased their activity and Access expanded its Enterprise Development Programme to support 
enterprise development activity in the Mental Health and Equality sector as well as continuing to support 
the Homelessness and Youth sectors. Access shared its learning via a number of publications and 
events and it has continued to invest as much as possible of its endowment into charities and social 
enterprises; with 45% invested in this way at year-end.  

• Access’s Capacity Building programmes are aimed at supporting the development of 
enterprising activity within charities and social enterprises in England and specifically develop 
business models which can be further supported through utilising social investment. These 
programmes have provided support to help organisations make a transition to new enterprise 
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models, or grow existing ones, with a focus helping organisations manage repayable finance. 
These programmes are funded by an expendable endowment from DCMS, to be spent down 
over ten years. At the end of 2019, Access had three major capacity building programmes. 
Since its launch in 2016 the Reach Fund (run by the Social Investment Business) has awarded 
508 grants, with a total value of £6.9m, through a range of approved social investors who act 
as Access Points. The Enterprise Development Programme (run by a range of partners, 
including Social Investment Business who manage the grant programme) has awarded 123 
grants totalling £1.8m since its launch in 2018. The Connect Fund (run by Barrow Cadbury 
Trust) has awarded £2.5m of grants since its inception in 2017.  

• The Growth Fund, which Access manages on behalf of BSC and the NLCF, tackles the gap in 
the supply of small loans, of under £150,000, for charities and social enterprises, by providing 
a blend of loan and grant capital to social investors in England allowing them to offer simple 
investment products for the sector. By the end of 2019 the Fund was fully committed, with £50m 
committed across 16 different funs. Within these, 434 investments worth a total of £27.3m had 
been made to organisations with a median turnover of £241,000. By the end of 2019, Access 
had drawn £12.2m from the NLCF and paid out £11.4m to the social investors, with the balance 
of £0.8m held in its bank account for onward submission to the social investors in early 2020. 
In September 2018, it was granted an additional £10m from dormant bank accounts to blend 
with circa £15m of BSC funds, to create a Place-Based Blended Finance Programme, known 
as Local Access.  In March 2019 twelve places around England were invited to apply, with six 
places being chosen at the end of the year. These were: Bradford, Bristol, Gainsborough, 
Greater Manchester (Bolton, Oldham, Stockport and Wigan), Hartlepool, Redcar & Cleveland; 
and Southwark in London. The c.£25m will enable charities and social enterprises in these 
places to access loans and other investment products to help them grow enterprise activity. A 
further £8m from Access’s endowment has been committed as enterprise development support 
for organisations at an earlier stage of growth in those places.  

• Sharing learning and knowledge is central to Access’s impact and legacy. During 2019, it 
published “The Story so Far”, an animation and detailed narrative about the impact of its work 
to date. It published the first evaluation of the Reach Fund and held a learning event for 
stakeholders involved in the programme, and continued to publish its dashboards and lessons 
learned from its work via regular blog updates and reports on our website, including extensive 
details of the way subsidy has been used in the Growth Fund. It also continued to support Good 
Finance (part-funded by Access) which has further developed its role as a key resource for the 
sector in navigating the market.  

• The Access trustees are committed to investing the £60m expendable endowment from DCMS 
to achieve total impact. This means investing to achieve the maximum social impact and, at the 
same time, ensuring our financial objectives and liquidity requirements are met. By the end of 
2019, Access had published its investment policy statement for use by other organisations 
interested in taking a similar approach. Access use Rathbones to manage its treasury portfolio. 
Rathbones had invested £43.5m in funds and bonds on Access’s behalf to fund its capacity 
building programmes by the end of 2019. Of the Rathbones investment, 45% was in charities 
and social enterprises delivering social impact in the UK, 20% was in other organisations 
delivering social impact, and 33% was in other bonds and funds considered best in class for a 
range of environmental, social and governance (ESG) indicators. Access regularly publishes a 
full list of investments held in charities and social enterprises, in the interests of transparency. 

• Total revenue from the treasury investments in 2019 was £2.2m. During the year there was an 
unrealised gain on the portfolio of £0.6m. This comprised mark to market increases reflecting 
bond market trends. Income from the investment portfolio amounted to £1.6m. 
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• Total expenditure for the year was £9.0m (2018: £7.0m). This includes £8.1m (2018: £6.1m) in 
respect of grant payments and project management costs. Underlying administration 
expenditure was in line with the prior year at £0.8m (2018: £0.7m). 

Fair4All Finance 

Operating and financial performance: 

In 2019 F4AF established itself as an operating entity. Operating income primarily reflects recognition 
of costs incurred against its grant from NLCF of £0.6m. Programmes and operating costs were £0.4m 
and £0.2m for the year respectively. 

During 2019, F4AF has: 

• Led, with support from Esmeé Fairbairn, the development of a Theory of Change for the 
affordable credit sector: over 100 individual discussions and a series of three workshops 
involving social investors, foundations, debt advice charities, researchers, affordable credit 
providers, trade bodies and mainstream financial services provided rich insight into what is 
needed to deliver a sustainable affordable credit market.   

• Conducted a pilot scale up programme in the affordable credit sector: over 55 submissions 
were received for this first programme and five were selected to participate. The successful 
applicants all demonstrated significant ambition to scale, a track record of serving people in 
vulnerable circumstances and leadership capability and capacity to support development of the 
sector beyond their own organisations. F4AF worked with teams at Enterprise Credit Union, 
Fair for You, Five Lamps, Leeds Credit Union and Moneyline on the programme. Carnegie also 
supported the delivery of the programme.  

• Conducted a study on access to data: this study, reporting to the Financial Inclusion Policy 
Forum, focused on whether access to better/different data would enable organisations to make 
better lending decisions. The initial findings from this study were shared widely via Fair4All 
Finance’s website.  

• Developed a model for sustainably funding affordable credit: scaling affordable credit to £3bn 
will require resources beyond what F4AF has access to. Both patient/equity capital and debt 
funding are needed to support sustainable growth of the sector and F4AF is making good 
progress in establishing both an equity and a debt fund to leverage the funds it has been 
allocated. 

• Defined a code of practice for the provision of fair and affordable credit. 

• Total revenue for 2019 of £0.6m related solely to the release of grant monies against costs 
incurred in the period, with F4AF posting a slight profit owing to interest received on its treasury 
deposits in 2019. 

F4AF has already made commitments to specific organisations of £12m in “patient equity” to be drawn 
over the next two years to support significant scaling of their impact. Its new programmes launched in 
April 2020 will deliver another £15m into focused support in the areas of affordable credit. Good 
progress has been made in developing each of F4AF’s workstreams to deliver on specific goals for 
2020. 
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Youth Futures Foundation 

Operating and financial performance: 

In 2019 YFF established itself as an operating entity. Operating income primarily reflects recognition of 
costs incurred against its grant from NLCF of £0.6m. Cost of sales and administrative expenses were 
£0.6m and £0.1m for the year respectively. 

YFF’s principal activities in 2019 related to achieving strategic and operational (“Fit & Proper”) 
readiness, pending the arrival of its CEO. These activities covered the establishment of: 

• a strategic plan and associated financial plan; 
• an appropriate Board, hiring a CEO, creating a staff team and hiring plan; 
• appropriate processes, systems, recordkeeping and a premises plan; 
• an appropriate definition and way of measuring our social purpose and impact; 
• risk management plans and appropriate financial control processes; and 
• an acceptable Governance & Controls framework. 

All were completed on time by December 2019 (as assessed jointly by DCMS and the NLCF), resulting 
in the first material drawdown of YFF’s dormant assets allocation. 

In addition, YFF initiated a number of activities to support delivery of its 2020 workplan through: 

• commissioning a Rapid Evidence Assessment in partnership with the Institute for Employment 
Studies that will explore a range of interventions proven to work with young people facing 
barriers to employment; 

• commissioning, in partnership with Impetus, an analysis paper looking at the population of 
young people who are neither earning nor learning to understand the current drivers of, and 
future trends associated with, being in this group; 

• becoming an affiliate member of the What Works Network (led by the Cabinet Office); 

• conducting a series of regional visits to both understand the youth employment landscape 
across the country and engage with a variety of organisations from different communities 
delivering a range of targeted employment support for young people; and 

• performing preparatory work to enable the launch of its first grants programme in 2020. 

In 2019, YFF generated a surplus of £nil which is also the total comprehensive income for the period. 
This surplus is after accounting for £0.6m of income from the NLCF’s development grant, received as 
part of the agreed total grant of £90 million. This was used to fund core expenditure in the period, to 
establish the company and lay the groundwork for its activities. Expenditure in the period includes the 
initial hiring of staff, creation of a Board, legal and regulatory advice, general administration and other 
operational start-up costs. 

Future objectives and planned activities 

Big Society Capital 

BSC's over-riding purpose is to improve the lives of people in the UK by connecting social investment 
to social enterprises and charities. BSC is currently focusing its efforts on three areas where it believes 
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social investment can be particularly effective: homes for people in need, supporting places and early 
action to prevent harm. In addition, BSC will continue to make capital available to opportunities outside 
these focus areas including follow-ons from existing funds where BSC is seeing an impact or well-
formed and highly impactful incoming propositions. 

Access – the Foundation for Social Investment 

Access published its strategy for the next five years of its life in March 2018, over which time it intends 
to deploy the majority of its grant funding. Its programmes are expanding to offer a much broader range 
of support to charities and social enterprises seeking to develop their enterprise activity and seeking 
finance to do so. Its Capacity Building Programmes are increasingly focusing on supporting the 
development of enterprising activity in the sector. Its plans for the year will be significantly affected by 
the Covid-19 outbreak and are therefore subject to change including plans for Access’s programmes 
expanding to offer a much broader range of support to charities and social enterprises seeking to 
develop their enterprise activity and seeking finance to do so. 

As part of its Enterprise Development Programme, during 2020 Access will continue to deliver its suite 
of products providing enterprise development support to the homelessness and youth sectors, and 
extend that support to the equalities and mental health sectors. Two further sectors will be selected to 
join the programme. Access will also continue to support the Connect Fund with a particular focus on 
building on successful activity funded in the past three years. It is anticipated that the Connect Fund will 
commit a further £1 million in grants in 2020. As part of its Place-Based Blended Finance work, Access 
will work alongside colleagues from Big Society Capital in the six places selected to build robust delivery 
partnerships, refine plans for the provision of blended finance and enterprise development, secure final 
approval for those plans and support the partnerships in setting up the funds. Access’ learning will 
centre on undertaking updated programme evaluations and developing its approach to gathering data 
on and learning about the underlying business models which are most well suited to taking on 
investment. 

Fair4All Finance 

In February 2020 F4AF published the findings from its pilot programme and has used these to refine 
the next phase of its scale-up work. In April 2020 it launched the next phase of this programme to build 
capacity and capability in the sector. For 2020 its focus is on making significant progress in each of the 
impact areas, mapping its workstreams to set out plans on how to progress overall system change and 
the availability, appropriateness, attractiveness, awareness of financial products and services and the 
access to them. Key outcomes for 2020 will be to: 

• Deliver impact through the scale-up programmes to increase sustainable capacity of affordable 
credit. 

• Establish and start testing of the economic model to value the societal benefit of affordable 
credit provision. 

• Create appropriate long-term funding for affordable credit providers, including raising of an 
Affordable Credit Debt Fund. 

• Build markets and consumer insights data banks to enable customer centred product design. 

• Improve the access that people in vulnerable circumstances have to affordable credit providers. 

• Assess the value of additional data sets in credit decisioning. 
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Youth Futures Foundation 

2020 will be YFF’s first full year of operation. It aims to establish an evidence-led, structural and 
systems-based approach that recognises the importance of national learnings and local context, as well 
as promoting strong coordination and partnership working across government, funders, delivery 
organisations and employers, as is urgently needed. To achieve this, its 2020 activities will focus on the 
following: 

• Building the evidence base. 

• Understanding and highlighting structural and systemic barriers. 

• Improving the quality of employment programmes for young people. 

• Empowering government to carry out evidence-based policy making. 

• Equipping employers to improve productivity through hiring the best talent. 
End of report cross-reference – DO NOT DELETE  
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Directors’ Report 
The directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

Directors 

The following persons served as directors during the year: 

Sir Stuart Etherington (Chair from 9 June 2020) 
Robin Budenberg CBE (Director until 17 Sept 2020, Acting Chair from 21 Nov 2019 until 9 June 2020) 
Dame Clare Tickell DBE (Chair until 21 Nov 2019) 
Nicola Pollock 
Stephen Howard LVO 
Joanna Fox 
Peter Holbrook CBE (until 17 Sept 2020) 
Ian Hughes (from 25 Nov 2010) 
John Kingston OBE (until 25 Nov 2019) 
Sir Harvey McGrath (until 25 Nov 2019) 
Helen England (from 17 Sept 2020) 
Andrew Rose (from 17 Sept 2020) 
Kevin Davis (from 17 Sept 2020) 
Clara Barby (from 17 Sept 2020) 

Remuneration 

In 2019, the Directors of the Trust did not receive any remuneration for their role. It was agreed that the 
Board should be offered annual payments of £5,000 from 20 February 2020. The Chair will receive an 
additional £5,000 and the lead of the Quadrennial Review Team an additional £2,500. 

Big Society Capital 

The Nominations & Remuneration Committee (N&RC) of BSC is appointed by the Board of the company 
and makes recommendations on remuneration issues to it. Executive directors and the senior executive 
team will be paid a comparable remuneration package to persons engaged in similar positions in the 
public or not-for-profit sectors, as appropriate. The senior executive team shall not be paid any bonuses. 

This Committee also leads the process for setting BSC’s non-executive directors' fees. Non-executive 
directors will be offered an equivalent sum paid by other comparable not-for-profit and public bodies 
such as housing associations to non-executive directors. 

In 2019, the amounts were £8,055 (2018: £7,865) per annum for the service of acting as a non-executive 
director, £3,430 (2018: £3,350) per annum for chairing a Board Committee and £1,715 (2018: £1,675) 
per annum for acting as a non-chair member of a Committee. In addition, £5,275 (2018: £5,150) per 
annum is offered to a non-executive director who acts as a member of the Investment Committee. 
These amounts are reviewed by BSC annually in the light of inflation and non-executive remuneration 
levels at comparable organisations. 

Access – the Foundation for Social Investment 

The remuneration governance and decision making of Access is overseen by the Access Audit, Risk 
and Compliance Committee, with remuneration determined in line with relevant benchmarks and 
reflective of the conditions in the social sector. 
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One of the trustees of Access received remuneration in respect of their services during the period of 
£10,000 (2018 – £10,000). 

Fair4All Finance and Youth Futures Foundation 

Remuneration for directors and senior managers within YFF and F4AF is also determined in line with 
relevant benchmarks and is reflective of each company’s position as a social sector organisation 
distributing funds derived from the general public. Appropriate governance mechanisms have been 
instituted since year end to oversee this process. 

The remuneration for non-executive directors of the F4AF is set at £6,000 per annum and one of the 
non-executives has waived their remuneration. The remuneration for the chair in the executive role until 
the CEO joined on 1 September was set at a rate of £600 per day and as non-exec chair the rate was 
set at £12,000 per annum. The chair has waived all fees and remuneration. The aggregate value of 
emoluments paid to the non-executive directors in the period was £8,500. 

In 2019, service fees were paid to the YFF directors totalling £73,792. This mainly relates to the 
additional work by the directors during the start-up phase of the company before the arrival of the Chief 
Executive. The total service fee for all directors in 2020 is expected to be materially lower than in 2019. 
Directors are each paid a fee of £5,500 per annum, with the Chair receiving an additional £6,500 per 
annum. 

The total number of employees in the group with annual remuneration of £60,000 or more and employed 
as at the period end were as follows: 

 

24 of these employees participate in the BSC company pension scheme. Employees make a 
contribution of up to 8% of salary to the pension scheme. The group matches the employee 
contributions and pays an additional 3% of salary. 

Two of these employees participate in the Access company pension scheme. Employees make a 
contribution of a minimum of 4% of salary to the pension scheme. The group contributes 8% of salary. 

Two employees participate in F4AF's stakeholder pension scheme set at 4% employer contribution and 
4% employee contribution. 

One employee participated in YFF’s stakeholder pension scheme set at 6% employer contribution and 
5% employee contribution. 

  

2019 2018 
Number Number

£60,000 - £69,999 9 11
£70,000 - £79,999 11 4
£80,000 - £89,999 2 2
£90,000 - £ 99,999 2 1
£100,000 - £109,999 2 1
£110,000 - £119,999 3 2
£140,000 - £149,999 - -
£150,000 - £159,999 1 1
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Directors’ indemnity 

Each company in the group arranges directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to cover certain liabilities 
and defence costs. 

Pillar III disclosures 

The subsidiary company, BSC, is regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. The company makes 
disclosures on its website - bigsocietycapital.com – setting out BSC’s capital resources, risk exposures 
and risk management processes. 

Political contributions 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries made any disclosable political donations or incurred 
any disclosable political expenditure during the year. 

Auditor 

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and 
KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office. 

Change of Name 

In August 2020, the name of the company was changed from “The Big Society Trust” and it is now 
registered as “The Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common Good”. The Board believes the name 
better reflects the Company’s redefined responsibilities. 

Interests of the Trust’s Board 

All Board members declare their interests in a register kept and updated by the Company Secretary, 
which is shared with the Trust Board collectively and each of the Trust’s subsidiaries. 

If the Board or Committee considers any matters which could reasonably be seen as giving rise to a 
conflict of interest, the Chair of the meeting ensures at the outset that disclosure is made and that the 
member withdraws while the relevant item is discussed. 

The following table details all interests specifically relevant to the operation of the Trust within the 
current financial year: 

Name Organisation Name Details 

Joanna Fox The Department for Culture, 
Media and Sport (DCMS) 

Government appointee (1) 

Ian Hughes The National Lottery 
Community Fund (NLCF) 

NLCF appointee (1) 

Sir Harvey McGrath Big Society Capital Limited Chair of organisation 

John Kingston Access – The Foundation for 
Social Investment 

Chair of organisation 

Peter Holbrook Social Enterprise UK Limited CEO of organisation (2,3) 
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Sir Stuart Etherington National Council for Voluntary 
Organisations (NCVO) 

CEO of organisation until December 
2019 (2,3) 

Stephen Howard Power to Change Trustee 
Limited 

Chair of organisation, which makes 
investments alongside BSC 

Stephen Howard Big Issue Invest Limited Non-Executive Director of organisation; 
BSC is an investee in BII managed 
funds 

Robin Budenberg Charity Bank Limited Non-Executive Director of organisation, 
BSC has an equity investment in 
organisation and provides “scaling-up” 
facility 

Nicola Pollock SASC Trust Trustee of SASC Trust, BSC invests in 
funds managed by Social and 
Sustainable Capital LLP 

 

Notes: 

1. Both DCMS and NLCF provide funding to the Trust group. DCMS funding is subject to the approvals 
process for grants from central government departments. NLCF funding is provided under the terms of 
the Dormant Bank and Building Society Accounts Act 2008.  

2. Member organisations of SEUK and NCVO have transacted with certain of the operating companies 
in the Trust group.  In all cases the Director concerned is not connected to the applications for funding 
and is not party to the decision-making process in the operating company that considers the award 
application. 

3. Additional disclosures of Related Party Transactions are made in the Trust’s financial statements.   
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Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the annual report, strategic report,
the directors' report and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Strategic Report, the Directors' Report
and the flnancial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they have elected to prepare the group and parent company financial statements in accordance
with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice),
including FRS 102 The FinancialReporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their
proflt or loss for that period. ln preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements,
the directors are required to:

o select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
o make judgements and estimates that are reasonabte and prudent;
. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
. assess the group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as

applicable, matters related to going concern; and
. use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or

the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and

explain the parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

Disclosure of information to auditors

Each person who was a director at the time this report was approved confirms that:

. so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group's auditor is
unaware; and

. they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the group's auditor is
aware of that information.

This report was approved by the Board on 19 October 2020 and signed on its behalf.

hq--/v' 
/ -/ g\,"\v

Sir Stuart Etherington I

19 October 2020
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Independent auditor's report to the members of The 
Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common Good (formerly 
The Big Society Trust) 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of The Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common Good (“the 
company”) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Company Statement of Financial 
Position, the Company Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes, including the accounting 
policies in note 1.   

In our opinion the financial statements:   

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2019 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and    

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.   

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and 
applicable law.  Our responsibilities are described below.  We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities 
under, and are independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC 
Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate 
basis for our opinion.   

Going concern 

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend 
to liquidate the group or the company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the 
group and the company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that 
there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue 
as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going 
concern period”). 

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial 
statements.  In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the 
group’s business model and analysed how those risks might affect the group and company’s financial 
resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period.  We have nothing to report in 
these respects.    

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in 
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the 
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the group 
or the company will continue in operation. 
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Strategic report and directors’ report 

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report.  Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider 
whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated 
or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work: 

• we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report; 
• in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the 

financial statements; and 
• in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception   

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:   

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate 
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or   

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or   
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

Directors’ responsibilities   

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 25 above the directors are responsible for: 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; 
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the group and parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the 
group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities    

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an 
auditor’s report.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
the financial statements.    

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities  

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.   

Richard De La Rue (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants   
15 Canada Square, 
E14 5GL 
21 October 2020 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

The results above relate to continuing operations. 

 

The notes on page 37 to 60 below form part of these Financial Statements. 

 

Notes 2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Investment income 2 9,665 8,128
Investment (losses)/gains 3 (1,831) (8,461)
Income from grants 4 5,517 94,362
Miscellaneous other income 87 2

Total Revenue 13,438 94,031

Administrative and other expenses (11,127) (8,156)
Grant expenditure 5 (7,152) (5,254)

Profit/(Loss) on ordinary activities before taxation (4,841) 80,621

Tax credit on profit on ordinary activities 7 3 1                

Profit/(Loss) on ordinary activities after taxation (4,838) 80,622

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year (4,838) 80,622        

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Non-controlling interest 17 (731) (2,222)
Equity attributable to the parent company (4,107) 82,844        

(4,838) 80,622        
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Notes

Fixed assets
lntangible assets
Tangible assets
lnvestments

Current assets
Debtors
lnvestments
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

Provisions for liabilities
Deferred taration

2019
e 000

25
123

270,443

2018
g 000

45
134

220,196

8
o

10

11

12

778
307,839
105,577
414,194

(78,78s)

270,591

335,409

il2
362,930

28,1 36

224,375

390,464

13

391,608

(1,144)

14

606,000

(23)

610,839

(24)

Net assets

Capitaland reserves
Profit and loss account

Equity attributable to the parent company

Non-controlling interest 17

Total capital employed

605,97l 610,815

415,705 419,812

415,705

190,272

419,812

191,003

605,977

The notes on page 37 to 60 form part of these Financial Statements.

610,815

Ae?
Sir Stuart Effierington
Chair

f4f ,f'o

Company registration number: 0761 1016
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2019  

 

 

The notes on page 37 to 60 form part of these Financial Statements. 

 

Share Non- Profit Total
capital controlling and loss

 interest account
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

At 1 January 2018 - 193,225 336,968 530,193

(Loss) / profit for the financial year - (2,222) 82,844 80,622

At 31 December 2018 - 191,003 419,812 610,815

At 1 January 2019 - 191,003 419,812 610,815

(Loss) / profit for the financial year (731) (4,107) (4,838)

At 31 December 2019 - 190,272 415,705 605,977
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 

  

The notes on page 37 to 60 form part of these Financial Statements.

Notes 2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Operating activities
Operating profit (4,841) 80,621

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 127 117

(4,714) 80,738

Decrease/(increase) in debtors (236) 179
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 77,641 (415)

72,691 80,502

Foreign exchange losses (359) 175
Returns on fixed asset investments 6,595 7,633
Returns on current asset investments (4,848) (2,450)

Cash generated by operating activities 74,079 85,860

Investing activities
Payments to acquire tangible & intangible fixed assets (96) (102)
Payments to acquire fixed asset investments (74,308) (47,680)
Payments to acquire current asset investments (60) (73,533)
Repayment of loans 13,958 14,707
Proceeds from sale of fixed asset investments 3,454 -
Proceeds from sale of current asset investments 44,062 42,807

Cash used in investing activities (12,990) (63,801)

Cash generated by financing activities - -

Net cash generated/(used)
Cash generated by operating activities 74,079 85,860
Cash used in investing activities (12,990) (63,801)
Cash generated by financing activities - -

Net cash generated/(used) 61,089 22,059

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 19 56,064 34,005
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 117,153 56,064

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash at bank 105,577 28,136
Current asset investments (Maturity less than 3 months 
from the date of acquisition) 19 11,576 27,928

117,153 56,064
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The consolidated financial statements for the group comprise the company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as "the group"). 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102, The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain 
financial instruments which are stated at their fair value, as detailed in the 'Basic Financial Instruments' 
accounting policy below. 

The group's functional currency is pounds sterling, and the group's financial statements are rounded to 
the nearest thousand pounds. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. The group has built a 
cumulative profit since inception of £415.7m and has incurred a loss for the year of £4.8m. The company 
had cash and current asset investments of £414.2m at the year end.  The Directors have reviewed the 
group’s future liquidity projections in the light of the impact of the emergence and spread of Covid-19 
and potential implications of this on future group operations. Whilst there are significant wider market 
uncertainties which may impact portfolio investments, the Directors do not believe these will significantly 
impact the overall liquidity of the group for at least the next 12 months and that the group has sufficient 
existing Treasury balances to enable it to meet its investment and other obligations and to continue in 
operational existence for at least the next 12 months. Further information on this is set out in the 
Strategic Report on page 5. For this reason, the Directors have adopted the going concern basis in 
preparing these financial statements. 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved 
where the group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. the Trust has 80% of voting rights in Big Society Capital Limited (BSC) and 
is the sole member of its remaining three subsidiaries: Access - The Foundation for Social Investment 
(Access), Fair4All Finance Limited (F4AF), and Youth Futures Foundation Limited (YFF). 

Both F4AF and YFF were established during the year ended 31 December 2019, and have been 
consolidated from their date of incorporation, being 6 and 7 February 2019 respectively. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income, and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the company is exempt from the requirement to present 
its own profit and loss account. 

Non-controlling interest 

Non-controlling interests are included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at an amount 
which represents their proportionate share of net assets. Changes in the ownership percentage of 
minorities are accounted for as deemed acquisitions or disposals. 
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Use of judgements and estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with applicable UK GAAP requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. 

The most significant area of judgement is the determination of fair values for investments. This is 
discussed below, in the accounting policy 'Basic financial instruments - iii) Fair value measurement'. 

Foreign currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the group functional currency (pound sterling) at the 
foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date are translated to the 
functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising 
on translation are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Associates held as part of an investment portfolio 

The group has investments which may be regarded as associated undertakings, which would require 
these to be consolidated using the equity method of accounting. As these investments are held as part 
of an investment portfolio, they have not been consolidated in the accounts of the group, and are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in accordance with FRS 
102 14.4B. 

Recognition of government grants 

Access' endowment from the Cabinet Office, overseen through the Department for Culture, Media and 
Sport since 2016, is recognised as income in the period in which the charitable company is entitled to 
receipt, the amount can be measured reliably and it is probable that the funds will be received. All other 
government grants are included within deferred income in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position and credited to the profit and loss account in the period in which the related costs are incurred. 

Recognition of grants from the National Lottery Community Fund (NLCF) 

Grants received under Funding Agreements from the NLCF – being a public body – are also included 
within deferred income in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and credited to the profit 
and loss account in the period in which the related costs are incurred. 

Amounts received by Access from the NLCF to distribute to investors through the Growth Fund are not 
under the control of Access, and are therefore not recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The fee Access receives for administering these funds is, however, also included within 
deferred income in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and credited to the profit and loss 
account in the period in which the related costs are incurred. 

Interest 

Interest income is recognised either using the effective interest method or on an accruals basis, 
depending upon whether the financial asset is measured at 'amortised cost' or whether it has been  
designated upon initial recognition as at 'fair value through profit or loss'. 
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The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. When calculating the effective interest rate, the company estimates future cash flows 
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 

Net gains or losses from financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss 

Net gains or losses from financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss includes all 
realised and unrealised fair value changes, but excludes interest income. 

Basic financial instruments 

- Recognition and initial measurement 

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, 
with transaction costs recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets or financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to their acquisition or issue. 

Investments within the social investment portfolio, in which the group has significant influence, are held 
as part of an investment portfolio rather than qualifying as associates. The group recognises its 
investments within the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, on the date on which investments 
are signed and a drawdown notice has been received by the group. Additionally the group discloses 
commitments at two distinct stages: commitments contracted but not drawn down and in principle 
commitments. Details are set out in Note 20 - Capital commitments. 

- Classification 

The group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories: 

o Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 

 Designated as at fair value through profit or loss - debt, equity, fund and social 
impact bond investments and derivative financial instruments. 

o Financial assets at amortised cost: 

 Debt investments meeting the conditions set out in in FRS 102.11, cash at 
bank and in hand, cash deposits (included in investments held as current 
assets), and other debtors. 

o Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 

 Creditors 

o Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: 

 Derivative financial instruments 

Note 15 - Financial risk management and financial instruments - provides a reconciliation of line items 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position to the categories of financial instruments. 
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- Fair value measurement 

As described in Note 16 - Valuation of financial instruments, the group uses a three-level hierarchy for 
fair value measurement disclosure. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or 
a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction on the 
measurement date. 

In determining a fair value using Level 3 valuation techniques, the group applies the principles included 
in the 'International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines' (2018 edition): 

Where an investment has been made recently, or where there has been subsequent, significant new 
investment into the company, a more accurate valuation is not available and there is no evidence to 
suggest that the unadjusted Price of Recent Investment is no longer relevant, the group may apply the 
Price of Recent Investment, for a limited period following the date of the relevant transaction. Where it 
is felt that there has been a change to the milestones or benchmark then the group will use the Price of 
Recent Investment adjusted to reflect milestone/ benchmark analysis. 

Where appropriate and reasonable earnings or revenue multiples are available for comparable 
businesses, the group will apply Multiples valuation techniques to derive a value for the investment. 

If industry benchmarks can be applied to the investment to derive a fair value, these will be applied. 

If future cash flows can be reasonably estimated, and it is felt that the risks, due to the high level of 
subjectivity involved in applying the Discounted Cash Flow method, do not render the method 
insufficiently reliable, this will be applied. 

Where a regular Net Asset Valuation is available for the investment, the group will assess this for 
reasonableness and consider whether the investment can be valued on the basis of the underlying fair 
value of its assets, rather than its earnings. If this is considered appropriate the group will apply the 
Adjusted Net Asset Valuation method. 

The group may decide to use a combination of the mentioned methods, or other methods that are 
considered more appropriate to derive the fair value of its investments. 

- Impairment 

A financial asset not classified at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s), and that loss event(s) had an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that asset(s) that can be estimated reliably. 

- Derivative financial instruments 

The group holds derivative financial instruments to manage its exchange risk exposure from its USD 
and EUR denominated financial assets. Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value with any 
attributable transaction costs recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. After 
initial recognition derivatives are measured at fair value and changes recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss as incurred, the fair value reflects the estimated amount the group would receive or pay 
in an arms length transaction. This amount is determined based on observable exchange rates. 
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- Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position when, and only when, the group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends 
either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under UK GAAP e.g. for gains 
and losses arising from a group of similar transactions, such as gains and losses from financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss. 

Investments held as current assets 

The group classifies investments (cash deposits, social bonds, multi-asset funds or other debt 
securities) that cannot be readily realised within 24 hours, but can be realised within 12 months as 
Investments held as current assets. 

Intangible fixed assets 

Intangible fixed assets are measured at cost less cumulative amortisation and any cumulative 
impairment losses. 

Amortisation is provided on all intangible assets to allocate the depreciable amount of the assets to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Software development   3 years 

Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are measured at cost less cumulative depreciation and any cumulative impairment 
losses. 

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to 
write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset evenly over its expected useful life, as 
follows: 

Leasehold land and buildings  over the lease term 

Fixtures, fittings and equipment  3 to 4 years 

Taxation 

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit 
and loss account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other 
comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date, 
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which arise from the inclusion of income and expenses 
in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the financial 
statements. 
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Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference. 

The UK government's original plan to lower the rate of corporation tax to 18%, effective from 1 April 
2020, was rolled back in March 2020, with the ensuing reduction in the tax rate to 17% from 2021 also 
effectively curtailed as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. The group has therefore calculated its 
current tax charge at 19%. 

Pensions 

The group operates defined contribution pension schemes. Contributions are charged to the profit and 
loss account as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes. 

2. Investment income 

 

Total investment income in 2019 related mostly to BSC, increasing significantly as result of investment 
gains from the treasury portfolio together with higher income within the social impact investment 
portfolio and lower net write downs. As described in the Strategic Report on pages 5 to 24 above the 
income and valuation movements on the social impact investment portfolio reflect the continued growth 
of the portfolio and the current stage of the company's social impact investments as these move to a 
more mature fully-invested position, as well as the expected volatility due to the nature of the 
investments and the use of fair value accounting to value them. As described in Note 16 - Valuation of 
financial instruments, one of the valuation techniques applied is to value the investments based on their 
Net Asset Valuation. This results in the recognition of set-up costs, management fees and other 
expenses paid to fund managers, as they are incurred by the investee. 

The management fees paid to BSC’s fund managers allow them to employ high quality teams to deliver 
the social and financial returns required. In this way, the fees represent the cost of delivering the 
company's investment objectives and of building the capacity of the social impact investment sector to 
deliver returns for all social investors. BSC management fees as a percentage of BSC average 
committed social impact investments were 0.71% in 2019 (2018: 0.87%). 

  

Investment income 2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Social impact investment portfolio
Fixed asset investments:

Interest income on financial assets designated as amortised cost 750 495
Interest income on financial assets designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss 3,784 2,311
Dividend income from financial assets designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss 139 74
Fees received 111 15
Income 4,784 2,895

Treasury portfolio
Interest income on financial assets designated as amortised cost 4,881 5,233
Income 4,881 5,233

Total investment income 9,665 8,128
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3. Investment gains/(losses) 

 

During 2019 BSC made investments in foreign currency denominated assets. As outlined in Note 15 - 
Financial risk management and financial instruments, the foreign exchange risk is managed with 
currency forward derivative contracts. Any gains/ losses on the revaluation of foreign denominated 
assets offset the corresponding gains/ losses on the currency forward derivatives to the extent that the 
derivatives match the underlying currency exposure.  Following changes in the mix and return profile of 
foreign exchange denominated assets in the treasury portfolio during 2019, the exchange loss on 
foreign currency denominated debt securities was £2.4m (2018: gain of £2.2m) which was offset by a 
gain on the currency forward derivatives in 2019 of £2.8m (2018 loss of £2.3m), resulting in a net foreign 
exchange gain of £412,000 (2018: loss of £162,000). 

 

 

 

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Social investment portfolio

Net gains/(losses) from financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss:
Realised 4,104 1,686
Unrealised (8,909) (7,744)
Net gains/(losses) from financial assets carried at amortised cost:
Realised (279) -
Unrealised 315 111

Total net losses from financial assets: (4,769) (5,947)

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains from financial assets designated as at fair value:
Unrealised (53) (13)

Total Social investment (losses)/gains (4,822) (5,960)

Treasury portfolio

Net gains/(losses) from financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss:
Current asset investments - realised 611 618
Current asset investments - unrealised 1,705 (2,944)
Net gains/(losses) from financial assets carried at amortised cost:
Realised 263 (13)

Total net gains from financial assets 2,579 (2,339)

Net gains/(losses) on currency forward derivatives - realised 2,776 (2,307)
Net gains/(losses) on currency forward derivatives - unrealised 38 (34)
Net gains/(losses) on currency forward derivatives 2,814 (2,341)
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains from financial assets designated as amortised cost:
Realised (258) 713
Unrealised (2,144) 1,466

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 412 (162)

Total treasury gains/(losses) 2,991 (2,501)

Total investment losses (1,831) (8,461)
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4. Income from grants 

 

As described in the Strategic Report on pages 5 to 24, F4AF and YFF each received grant funding from 
the NLCF in 2019 to be spent on pursuing their strategic objectives. These grants, of respectively 
£31.0m and £45.0m in December 2019, have been included in deferred income and are being credited 
to the profit and loss account in the period in which the related costs are incurred. In 2019, they incurred 
costs of £642,000 and £637,000 respectively. £151,000 (2018: £127,000) of funds have been received 
from the NLCF by Access, as a result of the Service Level Agreement in place for administering the 
Growth Fund on the NLCF’s behalf. the Trust also received a one-off grant from the NLCF for £618,000, 
under the terms of a funding agreement to enhance the Board's oversight role for its wider remit, which 
now includes supervision of both F4AF and YFF. This grant income is also included in deferred income 
and credited to the profit and loss account in the period in which the related costs are incurred. During 
2019 The Oversight Trust utilised £79,000 (2018: £29,000) of these funds.  

Access received an expendable endowment from the Department of Culture, Media and Sport of £3.9m 
(2018: £4.2m), which has been recognised in full in 2019. 

During 2019, BSC also received five other grants received totalling £48,060. DCMS provided three 
grants, £20,000, £10,000 and £13,560 covering SITR II, Good Finance and SITR III projects 
respectively. £1,000 was received from Centre4Ageing. £3,500 was received from Wellcome Trust 
which was additional funding for Research to Venture Mental Health Programme. All other funds 
previously deferred by BSC have been recognised in full, in line with the conditions of each grant. 

  

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

National Lottery Community Fund grant income 1,509 90,106
Government grants received 4,004 4,256
Other grants received 4 0

5,517 94,362
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5. Administrative and other expenses, and grant expenditure 

 

In the year ended 31 December 2019, Access incurred grant expenditure through direct project costs 
to the following organisations: 

 
A breakdown of the total number of employees, including directors, with annual remuneration of £60,000 
or more and employed as at the period end is disclosed in the Directors' Report on pages 25 to 29 
above. 

 

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Wages and salaries 4,142                 3,050
Non-executive directors' fees 176 87
Social security costs 492 399                    
Pension costs 368 275                    
Staff related costs, including recruitment, training and travel 1,333 606                    
Premises 702 651                    
General and administrative expenses 584 372                    
Consultancy, including corporate advice and support and championing activities 1,403 1,184                 
Marketing, including events, sponsorship and website development 436 289                    
Research 29 94                     
Amounts receivable by the group’s auditor (see below) 117 128                    
Other professional costs 469 194                 
Depreciation of owned fixed assets 107 101                 
Amortisation of intangible assets 20 16                  
Investment related expenses, including legal fees 88 88                  
Total administrative expenses 10,466 7,534

Treasury management fees 661 622                    

Total other expenses 661 622

Total administrative and other expenses 11,127 8,156                 

Amounts receivable by the group’s auditor and its associates in respect of:

Audit of these financial statements 18                     16                     
Amounts receivable by the company’s auditor and its associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries of the company 74                     89                     
Taxation compliance services 15                     16                     
Other assurance services 10                     7                       

117 128

Average number of employees during the year 2019 2018
Number Number 

Big Society Capital Limited 59 44
Access - The Foundation for Social Investment 7 5
Fair4All Finance Limited 4 -
Youth Futures Foundation Limited 2 -

72 49

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

The Social Investment Business 5,605 3,973
Barrow Cadbury Trust 1,000 1,208
School for Social Entrepreneurs 213 -
Local Access 120 -
Grants paid to sector support bodies 214 73
Total grant expenditure 7,152 5,254
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6. Directors’ and key management personnel emoluments 

The directors of the Trust neither received nor waived any remuneration for their services during the 
year (2018: £nil). Oversight Trust had no employees in the year ended 31 December 2019. Non-
executive directors' fees paid to directors of BSC and remuneration paid to trustees of Access, F4AF 
and YFF are disclosed in the Directors' Report on page 25. 

The highest paid director in the group received emoluments of £155,000 (2018: £151,000) and company 
contributions to money purchase pension schemes of £16,000 (2018: £16,000). 

7. Taxation 

Factors affecting tax charge/(credit) for period  

 

The differences between the tax assessed for the period and the standard rate of corporation tax are 
explained as follows: 

 

  

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Analysis of charge/( credit) in period
Current tax:
UK corporation tax on profits of the period 3 -
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (5) (4)

(2) (4)

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences (1) 3

(1) 3

Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities (3) (1)

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax (4,841) 80,621

Standard rate of corporation tax in the UK 19.0% 19.0%

£ 000 £ 000 

(920) 15,318

Effects of:
Grant income not subject to tax (121) (15,190)
Losses/(profits) relating to the group's charitable entities 517 (1,355)
Income not taxable and/or expenses not allowable for tax purposes 803 889
Capital allowances for period in excess of depreciation (2) 6
Utilisation of tax losses (274) -
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous periods (5) (4)
Tax loss not recognised as deferred tax asset - 332
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of timing differences (1) 3
Tax charge/(credit) for period (3) (1)

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax
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8. Intangible fixed assets 

 

9. Tangible fixed assets 

 

10. Fixed asset investments 

 

*Profit and loss - Unrealised is predominantly management fees and expenses paid to intermediaries 
or fair value reductions on social investments, as detailed in Note 2 – Investment income. 

£ 000 
Cost
At 1 January 2019 61
Additions -
Disposals -
At 31 December 2019 61

Amortisation
At 1 January 2019 16
Provided during the year 20
On disposals -
At 31 December 2019 36

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2019 25

At 31 December 2018 45

Software 
development

Land and 
buildings

Fixtures, fittings, 
tools and 

equipment Total
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2019 330 294 624
Additions - 96 96
At 31 December 2019 330 390 720

Depreciation
At 1 January 2019 249 241 490
Charge for the year 65 42 107
At 31 December 2019 314 283 597

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2019 16 107 123

At 31 December 2018 81 53 134

Total

Social investment portfolio £ 000 

At 1 January 2019 220,196
Additions 74,308
Repayment of loans (13,958)
Redemptions (3,454)
Profit and loss - Unrealised* (6,649)

270,443
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The Group holds 20% or more of the share capital of the following undertakings: 

Investments Country of Shares held % Aggregate Aggregate
Incorporation / Class Capital and Profit (loss)
Principal place reserves for the year
of business¹ of the entity² of the entity²

£ 000 £ 000
3SC Capitalise Limited UK Ordinary 50.00 - -
Triodos New Horizons Limited UK Ordinary 30.00 3 -
Children’s Support Services Limited UK Ordinary 26.60 1,266 -
The Charity Bank Limited UK Ordinary 63.80 26,903 811

It’s All About Me Scheme LLP UK
Partnership 
Interest 25.00 18 -

Social Stock Exchange Limited UK Ordinary 31.60 (300) (30)

Bridges Social Impact Bond Fund LP
Partnership 
Interest 37.78

Impact Ventures S.A., SICAV-SIF Luxembourg
Registered 
Shares 41.58

North East Social Investment Fund 
Limited Partnership

Partnership 
Interest 48.75

Nesta Impact Investments 1 Limited 
Partnership

Partnership 
Interest 45.46

Real Lettings Property Fund Limited 
Partnership

Partnership 
Interest 25.07

The Community Investment Fund L.P.
Partnership 
Interest 40.00

The Third Sector Loan Fund LLP
Partnership 
Interest 50.00 8,477 (1,884)

Shared Lives Investments LP
Partnership 
Interest 37.93

Social Growth Fund LLP UK
Partnership 
Interest 50.00 6,187 (1,171)

Bridges Social Interim LP
Partnership 
Interest 99.98 9 (914)

Social Finance Care and Wellbeing 
Investments LLP UK

Partnership 
Interest 50.00 2,753 (238)

Funding Affordable Homes SICAV SIF 
S.A. Luxembourg

Registered 
Shares 27.08

Big Issue Invest Social Enterprise 
Investment Fund II L.P.

Partnership 
Interest 62.98 11,813 223

National Homelessness Property Fund 
Limited Partnership

Partnership 
Interest 46.06

Cheyne Social Property High Impact 
(1) Fund

Partnership 
Interest 100.00 1,155 (63)

Bridges Evergreen Capital LP
Partnership 
Interest 50.00 19,817 662

Bethnal Green Ventures LLP
Partnership 
Interest 24.54 1,946 (504)

BII Outcomes Investment Fund LP
Partnership 
Interest 85.00 2,339 (231)

Fair by Design  Venture Limited 
Partnership 

The Council 
House, Victoria 
Square, 
Birmingham, West 
Midlands, B1 1BB

Partnership 
Interest 44.78

Bridges Social Outcomes Fund LP
38 Seymour Street, 
London, W1H 7BP

Partnership 
Interest 35.70

City Funds LP 

Narrow Quay 
House, Narrow 
Quay, Bristol, BS1 
4QA

Partnership 
Interest 50.00 - -

Community Owned Renewable 
Energy LLP UK

Partnership 
Interest 50.00 17,099 544

Holding less than 50%, no public filing required

Holding less than 50%, no public filing required

Holding less than 50%, no public filing required

Maybrook House, 
Grainger Street, 
Newcastle Holding less than 50%, no public filing required
58 Victoria 
Embankment, 
London, EC4Y 0DS Holding less than 50%, no public filing required

38 Seymour Street, 
London, W1H 7BP Holding less than 50%, no public filing required

UK

38 Seymour Street, 
London

Holding less than 50%, no public filing required
4th Floor Reading 
Bridge House, 
George Street, 
Reading, RG1 8LS

131-151 Great 
Titchfield Street, 
London

The Great Barn, 5 
Scarne Court, Hurdon 
Road, Launceston, 
Cornwall, PL15 9LR

113-115 Fonthill 
Road, London

42 St Thomas Road, 
Launceston, Cornwall Holding less than 50%, no public filing required

113-115 Fonthill 
Road, London

Holding less than 50%, no public filing required

Holding less than 50%, no public filing required

94 Solaris Avenue 
Camana Bay, Grand 
Cayman

UK

UK

Holding less than 50%, no public filing required
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11. Debtors 

 

12. Investments held as current assets 

 

Investments held as current assets can be realised within 1 year, but not within 24 hours. Social 
bond/equity/multi asset funds are open-ended investment companies, and are held as part of the social 
investment allocation within the treasury portfolio, as described in the Strategic Report on pages 5 to 
24 above. 

Listed debt securities include items with a fair value of £760,000 (2018: £130,000), which have been 
pledged as collateral for a contingent liability on foreign exchange forward contracts.  The collateral is 
adjusted daily to reflect any contingent liability arising as at the prior day close of business and is subject 
to a minimum transfer threshold of £250,000.  The collateral can be replaced by a range of agreed 
alternative financial assets. The group retains the risks and rewards of ownership. 

13. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

 

Access holds money received from the NLCF for the Growth Fund in order to distribute it to investors. 
The grant income and expenditure is not under the control of Access and it is therefore not included 
within the statement of comprehensive income, and is recognised within other creditors in the note 
above. 

 

 

 

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Other debtors 78 17
Prepayments 452 337
Accrued income 58 76
Treasury portfolio - Derivative financial instrument 190 112

778 542

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Treasury portfolio - Cash deposits 12,575 32,715
Treasury portfolio - Listed debt securities 263,831 299,918
Treasury portfolio - Social Bond/Equity/Multi Asset Funds 31,434 30,297

307,840 362,930

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Trade creditors 428 166
Other taxes and social security costs 136 94
Other creditors 767 201
Accruals 881 622
Deferred income 76,573 61

78,785 1,144
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14. Deferred taxation 

 

15. Financial risk management and financial instruments 

Introduction 

As described in the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report, on pages 5 to 29 above, the Board of 
BSC is responsible for the majority of the activities of the group. 

The BSC Board is responsible for BSC's overall corporate governance (with additional oversight 
provided by the Trust), which includes ensuring that there are adequate systems of risk management. 
The systems and processes aim to identify, measure and report risks. Risk is controlled through a 
system of procedures, checks, reports and responsibilities. The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
examines management processes and other arrangements to ensure the appropriateness and 
effectiveness of systems and controls, including risk management. 

The Access Board and its Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee are responsible for Access’s 
governance and risk management. To ensure that risks are managed and mitigated, a risk register is 
in place, which enables Access to identify and evaluate both strategic and operational risks, and the 
actions needed to mitigate these risks, taking into account existing and proposed controls. The Audit, 
Risk and Compliance Committee reviews the risk register on a quarterly basis. 

As described in the Strategic Report on pages 5 to 24, the group's investment portfolio comprises a 
social investment portfolio and a treasury portfolio.   

The social investment portfolio comprises unlisted equity investments, loans, investments in unlisted 
funds and investments in social impact bonds. All social investments held by BSC are approved by 
BSC's Investment Committee (which has been delegated authority by the board to operate within set 
parameters). Access’ treasury portfolio is overseen by the Endowment Investment Committee, 
comprising two trustees and two external advisors.  The EIC is responsible for the relationship with our 
investment managers (Rathbones), and its role is to monitor both the social impact and financial 
performance of the social investments that are being managed on Access’ behalf by Rathbones from 
the endowment funds provided by DCMS and the treasury management of the dormant account funds. 
The EIC meets four times a year. 

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Accelerated capital allowances 23 24
Adjustment in respect of prior period (561) (102)
Impact of change in tax rates - -
Tax losses carried forward (977) (1,812)
Tax losses not recognised as a deferred tax asset 1,538 1,914

23 24

Provision for liabilities 2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

At 1 January 24 21
Charged/(credited) to the profit and loss account (1) 3
Charged to other comprehensive income - -

At 31 December 23 24
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The treasury portfolio comprises bank and building society cash deposits, certificates of deposits and 
listed and unlisted debt securities, and represents capital held before it is drawn down into social 
investment. The treasury portfolio operates using a socially responsible investment process. 

Categories of financial instrument 

Financial instruments as at 31 December by category are shown below: 

 

 

The financial instruments not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss are assets and liabilities 
whose carrying amounts approximate fair value. 

 

 

 

2019 Financial 
instruments 
measured at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Financial 
instruments 
measured at 

amortised 
cost

Non financial 
instruments Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

Assets
Tangible and intangible fixed assets - - 148 148
Fixed asset investments 254,103 16,340 - 270,443
Debtors 190 136 452 778
Investments held as current assets 87,518 220,321 - 307,839
Cash at bank and in hand - 105,577 - 105,577

Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year - (78,785) - (78,785)
Non-controlling interest - - (190,272) (190,272)
Deferred taxation - - (23) (23)

341,811 263,589 (189,695) 415,705

2018 Financial 
instruments 
measured at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Financial 
instruments 
measured at 

amortised 
cost

Non financial 
instruments Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

Assets
Tangible fixed assets - - 179 179
Fixed asset investments 207,142 13,054 - 220,196
Debtors 112 91 339 542

84,127 278,803 - 362,930
Cash at bank and in hand - 28,136 - 28,136

Liabilities
- (1,144) - (1,144)

Non-controlling interest - - (191,003) (191,003)
Deferred taxation - - (24) (24)

291,381        318,940         190,509-             419,812             

Investments held as current assets

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
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Gains and losses recognised in the profit and loss account during the period to 31 December by 
category are shown below: 

 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss from a counterparty’s failure to settle financial obligations as they 
fall due. The group is exposed to credit risk principally from investments in unlisted funds, debt securities 
held, loans and receivables and cash deposits. 

Investments in unlisted funds and loans included in fixed asset investments are all social investments. 
Debt securities, showing as current asset investments are held within the treasury portfolio. Cash 
deposits are either held for operational purposes or as part of the treasury portfolio. Cash deposits that 
can be withdrawn at any time without notice and without penalty or that have a maturity or period of 
notice of not more than 24 hours or one working day are shown as cash at bank and in hand, all other 
deposits with a maturity of up to 1 year are shown as investments held as current assets. 

Within the BSC treasury portfolio, BSC has set a maximum exposure limit for each counterparty. The 
treasury policy seeks to minimise the exposure to counterparties with perceived higher risk of default 
by specifying an average credit rating for the portfolio. The treasury portfolio is managed externally and 
counterparty exposure limits and average credit rating are monitored by the external managers. The 
group receives monthly treasury reports. 

2019
Financial 

assets 
measured at 

fair value 
through profit 

or loss

Financial 
derivatives 

measured at 
fair value

Financial 
assets 

measured at 
amortised 

cost
Other income 
and expense Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

Interest income 5,305 - 4,110 - 9,415
Fee and dividend income 223 - 27 - 250
Investment  (losses) / gains (2,312) 2,814 (2,333) - (1,831)
Income from grants and other sources - - - 5,604 5,604
Administrative and grant expenses - - (538) (17,741) (18,279)
Tax on loss on ordinary expenses - - - 3 3

3,216 2,814 1,266 (12,134) (4,838)

2018
Financial 

assets 
measured at 

fair value 
through profit 

or loss

Financial 
derivatives 

measured at 
fair value

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised 

cost
Other income 
and expense Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

Interest income 4,047 - 3,992 - 8,039
Fee and dividend income 89 - - - 89
Investment gains / (losses) (8,397) (2,341) 2,277 - (8,461)
Income from grants and other sources - - - 94,364 94,364
Administrative and grant expenses - - (489) (12,921) (13,410)
Tax on loss on ordinary expenses - - - 1 1

(4,261) (2,341) 5,780 81,444 80,622
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The group's maximum credit risk exposure at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date is 
represented by the respective carrying amounts of the relevant financial assets in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position, with the exception of listed debt securities designated as at amortised 
cost, for which the credit exposure and the carrying value are shown below. The carrying value includes 
amortisation of the premium at purchase and does not include any market revaluation, and therefore 
does not represent the current credit risk. 

The group uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage its exchange risk exposure from 
holdings of non-GBP denominated financial assets.  Collateral is exchanged on open foreign exchange 
forward contracts representing the unrealised gain (receipt of collateral by the group) or loss (pledge of 
collateral by the group) on a daily basis. 

Credit risk arises from changes in the value of the open foreign exchange forward contracts being 
insufficiently covered by collateral received (to cover unrealised gains) if the counterparty to the contract 
does not complete the exchange of currency on the contracted settlement date. 

This is mitigated by utilising standard credit support agreements with a limited number of mainstream 
financial institutions and reliance upon the collateral management processes at the investment 
manager. 

Credit risk exposure as at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date comprises: 

 

Credit risk exposure 2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Fixed asset investments 270,443 220,196
Other debtors 55 17
Accrued income 58 76
Social Bond/Equity/Multi Asset Funds - Investments held as current assets 31,434 30,297
Cash deposits - Investments held as current assets 12,575 32,715
Listed debt securities 263,831 298,602
Cash deposits - Cash at bank and in hand 105,577 28,136

683,973 610,039

Credit risk 
exposure Carrying value

£ 000 £ 000 

Listed debt securities designated as at amortised cost 225,158 256,305
Listed debt securities designated as at fair value 38,673 38,673

263,831 294,978

Maximum exposure to credit risk as at the balance sheet date

* Included within listed debt securities:
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As at the year end, cash at bank and in hand and investments held as current assets were held at 
institutions rated as follows by Standard and Poor's Investor Services: 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations. The group’s policy is to ensure 
it has sufficient funds to fulfil liabilities as they fall due, including investment commitments approved by 
BSC’s Investment Committee and Access’s Endowment Investment Committee (see Note 20 - Capital 
Commitments for details of investment commitments). 

The group's financial assets include loans, unlisted equity investments, investments in unlisted funds 
and investments in social impact bonds, which are generally illiquid. 

The group's investments in listed debt securities are considered to be readily realisable as they are 
actively traded. All cash deposits held as current assets have a maturity of less than 12 months. The 
group's overall liquidity is monitored on a daily basis. 

An analysis of contractual creditor balances, by maturity is shown below: 

 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and credit spreads (not 
relating to changes in the issuers credit standing) will affect the group's income or the fair value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. 

Rating 2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Social Bond/Equity/Multi Asset Funds investments Not rated 36,295 36,970
Listed debt securities AAA 50,619 43,283
Listed debt securities AA 53,198 45,906
Listed debt securities A 101,784 132,214
Listed debt securities BBB 36,163 48,674
Listed debt securities Not rated 5,340 16,657
Unlisted debt securities Not rated 11,505 6,018
Cash deposits - Investments held as current assets A-1 998 28,922
Cash deposits - Investments held as current assets A-2 11,576 501
Cash deposits - Investments held as current assets Not rated 362 3,785
Cash deposits - Cash at bank and in hand A-1 89,303 18,136
Cash deposits - Cash at bank and in hand Not rated 16,274 10,000

413,417 391,066

2019 Carrying 
amount

Contractual cash 
flows 6 months or less

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

2,212 2,212 2,212
2,212 2,212 2,212

2018 Carrying 
amount

Contractual cash 
flows 6 months or less

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

1,083             1,083                 1,083                 
1,083             1,083                 1,083                 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
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The company has interest rate exposure. The company currently has £413.6m in cash or current asset 
investments that earn interest at a variety of rates. Any reduction in interest rates will reduce the interest 
income on these deposits. A reduction of interest rates by 1% would result in a reduction in returns of 
£4.1m. 

Foreign exchange risk 

The group is exposed to foreign currency risks on assets and liabilities as a result of changes in 
exchange rates. The group invests in foreign currency denominated bonds and so has foreign currency 
risk exposure on those assets. The group is mitigating that risk by putting in place matching currency 
forward derivative contracts. When a foreign currency denominated bond is purchased a spot trade and 
a forward are executed and these are rolled forward every three months. The spot trade buys foreign 
currency and sells GBP (originally to fund the bond purchase) and a new forward contract is then 
executed to sell foreign currency and buy GBP creating a foreign currency liability that offsets the 
investment. Currently the size of the group's investment in the foreign currency denominated fund is 
too low for a similar process to be cost effective due to the associated fees, the fund also holds GBP 
denominated assets which partially mitigate the exposure. The exposure continues to be monitored and 
the company has the ability to implement a similar procedure to the bonds when/if required. 

Regulatory risk 

BSC is authorised and regulated by the FCA. It is required to regularly assess the amount of capital 
needed for operations and will hold liquid capital in excess of this amount. 

BSC has, at all times during the period under regulatory supervision, held sufficient capital to meet its 
regulatory capital requirement. 

16. Valuation of financial instruments 

The determination of fair value for basic financial instruments for which there is no observable market 
price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in Note 1 - Accounting policies, 'Basic 
financial instruments - iii) Fair value measurement'. 

The group uses a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurement disclosure, as follows: 

- Level 1. The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date. 

- Level 2. Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (ie 
developed using market data) for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

- Level 3. Inputs are unobservable (i.e. for which market data is unavailable) for the asset or 
liability. 

In determining a fair value using Level 3 valuation techniques, the group applies the principles included 
in the 'International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines' (2018 Edition): 

- Where an investment has been made recently, or where there has been subsequent, significant 
new investment into the group, a more accurate valuation is not available and there is no 
evidence to suggest that the unadjusted Price of Recent Investment is no longer relevant, the 
group may apply the Price of Recent Investment, for a limited period following the date of the 
relevant transaction. Where it is felt that there has been a change to the milestones or 
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benchmark then the company will use the Price of Recent Investment adjusted to reflect 
milestone/ benchmark analysis. 

- Where appropriate and reasonable earnings or revenue multiples are available for comparable 
businesses, the group will apply the Multiples valuation technique to derive a value for the 
investment. 

- If industry benchmarks can be applied to the investment to derive a fair value, these will be 
applied. 

- If future cash flows can be reasonably estimated, and it is felt that the risks, due to the high 
level of subjectivity, involved in applying the Discounted Cash Flow method do not render the 
method insufficiently reliable, this will be applied. 

- Where a regular Net Asset Valuation is available for the investment, the group will assess this 
for reasonableness and consider whether the investment can be valued on the basis of the 
underlying fair value of its assets, rather than its earnings. If this is considered appropriate the 
group will apply the Adjusted Net Asset Valuation method. 

The group may decide to use a combination of the mentioned methods, or other methods that are 
considered more appropriate to derive the fair value of its investments. 

The fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December can be analysed as follows: 

 

There have been no changes in classification of assets held at each level. 

 

All Level 3 financial assets held at fair value are investments held within the social investment portfolio. 

  

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Level 1
38,673 42,297

Level 2
48,845 41,830

Derivative financial instruments 190 112
Level 3

254,103 207,142
341,811 291,381

Investments held as current assets

Financial assets held at fair value:

Investments held as current assets

Fixed assets - investments

£ 000 

Balance at 1 January 2019 207,142
Purchases 68,749
Sales (14,728)

(7,060)
254,103Balance at 31 December 2019

Level 3 financial assets held at fair value Financial assets held at fair value 

Total investment returns recognised in profit or loss



The Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common Good 
(formerly The Big Society Trust) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued) 

57 

 

17. Non-controlling interest 

 

18. Profit and loss account 

 

19. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

As described in Note 12 - Investments held as current assets, Investments held as current assets can 
be realised within 1 year, but not within 24 hours. For cash flow purposes those investments that have 
a maturity or period of notice of less than 3 months from the date of acquisition are included as cash 
and cash equivalents. A breakdown of Investments held as current assets is provided below: 

 

20. Capital commitments 

BSC recognises investments and potential investments at three distinct stages of the investment 
process: 

1. Investments signed and drawn down: legal agreements are completed and signed and funds 
(in total or partial) have been drawn down. The amounts drawn down are recognised as 
financial assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, and the balance of the 
commitment is disclosed below. 

2. Investments signed, commitment undrawn: legal agreements are completed and signed 
and funds (in total or partial) have not been drawn down. These are not recognised within the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, but are disclosed below. 

£ 000 

At 1 January 2019 191,003
Profit/(loss) in subsidiaries for the financial year (731)
At 31 December 2019 190,272

2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: £ 000 £ 000 
Cash at bank 105,577 28,136
Current asset investments (Maturity less than 3 months from the date of acquisition) 11,576 27,928
Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statement 117,153 56,064

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Cash deposits (Maturity less than 3 months from the date of acquisition) 11,576 27,928
Cash deposits (Maturity greater than 3 months from the date of acquisition) 999 4,787
Listed debt securities (Maturity greater than 3 months from the date of acquisition) 263,831 299,918
Unlisted debt securities (Maturity greater than 3 months from the date of acquisition) 31,434 30,297
Investments held as current assets per balance sheet 307,840 362,930

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

At 1 January 2019 419,812 336,968
Loss/(profit) for the financial year (4,107) 82,844

At 31 December 2019 415,705 419,812
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3. In principle commitments: the commitment has been approved in principle by BSC's 
Investment Committee, legal agreements and deal terms are in the process of being prepared. 
These are not recognised within the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, but are 
disclosed below. 

As at 31 December, there were capital commitments, in respect of investments signed, commitment 
undrawn of: 

No other group entities capital commitments had capital commitments outstanding at year end. 

21. Other financial commitments 

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases: 

 

22. Related party transactions 

During 2019 the Trust, being the parent company, purchased £Nil (2018: £80 million) of £1 Ordinary A 
shares in Big Society Capital Limited. During 2019 BSC incurred £30,000 of costs (2018: £Nil) on behalf 
of the Trust. This amount was outstanding at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: £nil). 

During the period Access, being a member of the Trust group, paid £78,400 (31 December 2018: 
£78,400) to BSC, in respect of a licence fee for the use of its offices. As at 31 December 2019 there 
was an outstanding balance of £6,500 (31 December 2018: £6,500). The transactions were made on 
terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length transactions. 

Directors' and senior management emoluments are disclosed in Note 6 - Directors' and key 
management personnel emoluments, and the Directors' Report on page 25. 

The wife of Sir Stuart Etherington, the chair of the Trust, is an equity partner with Bates Wells Braithwaite 
London LLP, who provide legal services to the Trust. The Trust has a policy in place to avoid any 
potential conflicts of interest arising by ensuring that any decision to enter into a new business 

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

237,240 248,512

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

42,000 24,000

Commitments contracted, undrawn fully or partially and not provided in the Financial 
Statements

In principle commitments (approved by the Investment Committee, subject to legal 
documentation)

As at 31 December, there were in principle commitments of:

Land and 
buildings

Land and 
buildings

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Falling due:
  within one year 513 358
  within two to five years 1,753 76
  in over five years 80 -

2,346 434
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relationship with Bates Wells Braithwaite is approved by a Director other than the Chair. Professional 
fees of £58,508 were paid to Bates Wells Braithwaite by the Trust during the year for legal advice. 

Peter Holbrook is CEO of Social Enterprise UK Limited (SEUK). In 2019, SEUK received payments 
from BSC totalling £17,050. The payments relate to BSC’s membership of SEUK (£550); a first 
instalment of a contribution to the cost of a report entitled “State of Social Enterprise: Exploring Regional 
Variations” (£10,500); and the sponsoring of the 2019 Social Enterprise Awards (£6,000). SEUK also 
received a grant from Access totalling £9,000 for marketing Good Finance. 

23. Presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling. 

24. Legal form of entity and country of incorporation 

The Trust is a limited company incorporated in England. 

25. Principal place of business 

The address of the company's principal place of business and registered office is: 

New Fetter Place 
8 - 10 New Fetter Lane 
London 
EC4A 1AZ 

26. Post balance sheet events 

Covid-19 

Big Society Capital and Access are assessing the financial and social impact implications of the Covid-
19 pandemic on its social impact investment portfolio. The Covid-19 pandemic is considered a non-
adjusting post balance sheet event and as a result the valuation of the company’s social impact 
investment portfolio as at 31 December 2019 has not been re-assessed. Big Society Capital’s initial 
assessment is that the consequences of the Covid-19 outbreak are likely to lead to a significant write 
down of the social impact investment portfolio in 2020 although it is not possible at this stage to quantify 
the impact within a reasonable range. The company has, however, undertaken a preliminary 
assessment of the potential impact on its principal investment product types. 

The largest portfolio impact is likely to be on direct lending activities through debt funds, social banks 
and the CDFI sector, which represents c.30% of the portfolio and supports organisations whose 
business models are either driven by footfall, directed at financial inclusion or can be fragile due to 
minimal reserves. In the company’s social outcome and venture fund investments, c.20% of the 
portfolio, the impact is likely to be lower and linked to the short-term operational challenges such as 
staff sickness and shifts in financial markets resulting from the outbreak. Some investments in this 
group, for example those in the tech sector, could in fact see some benefit. The group’s renewable 
energy, property and charity bond investments, c.50% of the portfolio, are expected to suffer less impact 
as revenues are generally better protected. The duration of the pandemic and the speed of economic 
recovery will ultimately be significant drivers of the longer-term valuation impact of the current crisis. 

There has been increased demand for the services provided by all the OpCos because of the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
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New dormant account monies 

As noted in the Strategic Report, Government announced in May 2020 that it would direct additional 
funds to be committed to the organisations within the group, in order to respond to the issues in the 
sector arising from Covid-19.  Alongside this, RFL released the 2020 Dormant Funds earlier than would 
normally be the case, to enable each operating company to respond quickly to the pressures faced by 
its stakeholder groups 

There are no other significant events to disclose since the reporting date. 
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The Oversight Trust - Assets for the Common Good
(formerly The Big Society Trust)
Company Statement of Financial Position

Notes

Fixed assets
lnvestments 2

Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand 636

Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year 3 (636)

Net current assets I
(!iabilities)

Net assets

Gapitaland reserves
Profit and loss account 4

Reserves

381,345

381,345

381,345

The notes on pages 58 - 59 form part of these Financial Statements.

Approved by the board on 19 October 2020 and signed on its behalf.

*.2^,7^\,,\"
Director

Company registration number: 0761 1016

2019
E 000

381,345

2018
f 000

381,345

59

(5e)

38'r,345

381,345

381,345
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

The notes on pages 59 form part of these Financial Statements. 

Profit Total
and loss
account

£ 000 £ 000 

At 1 January 2018 301,395 301,395

Profit for the financial year 79,950 79,950

At 31 December 2018 381,345 381,345

At 1 January 2019 381,345 381,345

Profit for the financial year - -

At 31 December 2019 381,345 381,345
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2019 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102, The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. They have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. The Oversight Trust (the 
Trust) is considered to be a qualifying entity (for the purpose of the FRS) and has applied the exemption 
available under FRS 102 not to present a cash flow statement and related notes. 

The financial statements are presented in thousands of pounds sterling, which is the company's 
functional currency. 

Use of judgements and estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with applicable UK GAAP requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. 

Basic financial instruments 

The company classifies its basic financial instruments into the following categories: 

- Financial assets at amortised cost: 

o Cash at bank and in hand and other debtors 

- Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 

o Creditors. 

2. Fixed asset investments 

 

The company holds 20% or more of the share capital of the following companies: 

 

Total
£ 000 

Cost
At 1 January 2019 381,345
Additions -

At 31 December 2019 381,345

Capital and Profit
Company Shares held reserves for the year

Class % £ 000 £ 000 
Big Society Capital Limited Ordinary A Shares 66 555,790 (2,126)
Access - The Foundation for Social Investment N/A 100 50,176 (2,723)
Fair4All Finance Limited N/A 100 1 1
Youth Futures Foundation Limited N/A 100 10 -
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Big Society Capital Limited (BSC) is a company limited by shares with capital comprising “A” shares, 
held by the Trust, and “B” shares, held by the four shareholding banks. 

To enable it to carry out its role, the Trust has a controlling interest in BSC. It controls a minimum of 
80% of the voting rights at shareholders’ meetings. For important issues, such as any change to the 
company’s Articles concerning its objects or powers, a consensus vote by the Trust Board is required. 

Access - The Foundation for Social Investment, Fair4All Finance Limited and Youth Futures Foundation 
Limited are each a company limited by guarantee. The Trust is the sole member of each and has 
guaranteed the £1 capital of each company. 

3. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

 

Deferred income comprises the portion of the National Lottery Community Fund grant that has been 
retained for the payment of future expenditure. 

4. Profit and loss account and Reconciliation of movements in members' funds 

 

5. Events after the reporting date 

Details of the OpCos’ response to the Covid-19 pandemic and the additional money that has been 
allocated to the OpCos by NLCF are detailed in the Strategic Report, and the notes to the group financial 
statements. 

6. Related party transactions 

During 2019 BSC incurred £30,000 of costs (2018: £Nil) on behalf of the Trust. This amount was 
outstanding at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: £nil). 

The wife of Sir Stuart Etherington, the chair of the Trust, is an equity partner with Bates Wells Braithwaite 
London LLP, who provide legal services to the Trust. The Trust has a policy in place to avoid any 
potential conflicts of interest arising by ensuring that any decision to enter into a new business 
relationship with Bates Wells Braithwaite is approved by a Director other than the Chair. Professional 
fees of £58,508 were paid to Bates Wells Braithwaite by the Trust during the year for legal advice. 

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

Trade creditors - -                 
30 -                 

Accruals 30 23                   
Deferred Income 576 36                   

636 59                   

Amounts owed to group undertakings and undertakings in which the company has a 

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000 

At 1 January 381,345 301,395
Profit for the financial year - 79,950

At 31 December 381,345 381,345
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Peter Holbrook is CEO of Social Enterprise UK Limited (SEUK). In 2019, SEUK received payments 
from BSC totalling £17,050. The payments relate to BSC’s membership of SEUK (£550); a first 
instalment of a contribution to the cost of a report entitled “State of Social Enterprise: Exploring Regional 
Variations” (£10,500); and the sponsoring of the 2019 Social Enterprise Awards (£6,000). SEUK also 
received a grant from Access totalling £9,000 for marketing Good Finance. 

7. Presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Sterling. 

8. Legal form of entity and country of incorporation 

The Trust is a limited company incorporated in England.      
    

9. Principal place of business 

The address of the company's principal place of business and registered office is: 

New Fetter Place 
8 - 10 New Fetter Lane 
London 

EC4A 1AZ 


	Company Information
	Chair’s Statement
	Strategic Report
	Directors’ Report
	Independent auditor's report to the members of The Oversight Trust – Assets for the Common Good (formerly The Big Society Trust)
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Company Annual Report and Financial Statements



